Public Document Pack

Meeting of:
Date:
Time:
Venue:

Planning and Licensing Committee
Thursday, 6th August, 2020
6.00 pm.
Zoom

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.
Item
No.
1

AGENDA

Page No

Apologies
To receive any apologies for absence.

2

Declarations of Interest
Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.

3

Minutes
To consider the Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Licensing
Committee, held 9th July 2020.

4

Urgent Items of Business
To determine whether there are any additional items of business
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

5

Items for Exclusion of Public and Press
To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to
be excluded from the meeting.

4-6

6

Land South East of Half Acre House Residential Care Home, Roch
Valley Way, Rochdale

7 - 23

Proposal: an outline application for the erection of five detached
dwellings.
7

36 Norford Way, Bamford, Rochdale

24 - 32

Proposal: Two storey and single storey front extensions together with
single and two storey rear extension including Juliet balconies to the
rear elevation; including alterations to fenestration and external partrendering (part retrospective).
8

Chamber House Farm, Rochdale Road East, Heywood

33 - 59

Proposal: Solar farm with ancillary buildings, security fencing, CCTV,
access tracks and landscape planting.
9

7 Cronkeyshaw Avenue, Rochdale

60 - 66

Proposal: First Floor Front Extension
10

Planning Appeals
To note details of the following determined Planning Appeals:
a.
Land on the South East of Todmorden Rod, Littleborough
b.
Land fronting 181 – 217 Kirkway, Middleton
c.
24 Mount Road, Middleton
d.
814 Manchester Road, Castleton, Rochdale

Site visits
It has been agreed with the Chair of the Planning and Licensing
Committee that, in view of the current COVID-19 guidance specific to
Rochdale, there will be no site visits for the agenda items.
Members are free to view the application sites from public vantage
points without entering private property, and are encouraged to make
use of Google Earth and Google Streetview prior to the meeting.
The above guidance is reflected on page 15 of the PAS document:

67 - 71

“Probity
in
planning
for
councillors
and
officers”
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/probity-planningcouncill-d92.pdf

Planning and Licensing Committee Members
Councillor Shakil Ahmed (Chair)
Councillor Phil Burke (Vice Chair)
Councillor Irene Davidson
Councillor Susan Emmott
Councillor Rachel Massey
Councillor Amna Mir
Councillor Shaun O'Neill
Councillor Faisal Rana
Councillor Aasim Rashid
Councillor Peter Rush
Councillor John Taylor
Councillor Shah Wazir
Councillor Peter Winkler
Councillor Sameena Zaheer
Councillor Mohammed Zaman
For more information about this meeting, please contact:
Peter Thompson
Committees and constitutional Services
Telephone: 01706 924715
e-mail: peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk

Agenda Item 3
PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE
MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday, 9th July 2020
PRESENT: Councillor Shakil Ahmed (in the Chair); Councillors Burke,
Davidson, Susan Emmott, Massey, Mir, O’Neill, Rana, Rashid, Rush, Taylor,
Wazir, Winkler, Zaheer and Zaman.
OFFICERS: P. Moore (Head of Planning), E. Heron (Economy Directorate),
J. Gilligan (Neighbourhoods Directorate), L. Adams, M. Garraway, J. Holmes,
Z. Latif and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate).
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: Councillor Angela Smith, Councillor Susan Smith
and seven members of the public.
1

APOLOGIES
There were no apologies received.

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interests.

3

MINUTES
Resolved:
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Licensing Committee
held 5th March 2020 be approved as a correct record.

4

LAND BETWEEN THRELKELD ROAD AND GATESGARTH ROAD,
MIDDLETON
The Head of Planning presented submitted planning application
19/01487/FUL, an application for the construction of 41 dwellings for
Affordable Rent with associated highways, landscaping and
retained/enhanced public open space at land between Threkeld Road and
Gatesgarth Road, Middleton.
The Committee received representations from agents of the applicant, Mr. K.
Bennet and Ms. A. Dennett, who addressed Members in support of the
planning application.
The Committee received representations from Councillor Susan Smith, a
Member for the Council’s West Middleton Ward, where the proposed
development was to take place.
Resolved:
Planning permission be granted subject to the subject to the schedule of
conditions, detailed in the report.

5

LAND AT STAINTON DRIVE, MIDDLETON
The Head of Planning presented submitted planning application
19/00956/FUL, a residential development, comprising 48 dwellings, including

Page 4

the provision of highway and landscaping on land at Stainton Drive,
Middleton.
The Committee received representations from Councillor Susan Smith, a
Member for the Council’s West Middleton Ward, where the proposed
development was to take place.
Resolved:
That planning permission be granted subject to the Conditions detailed in the
updated Planning Officer’s updated report.
6

CARR WOOD COTTAGE (FORMERLY 1 & 3 HIGHER CLOUGH) SCHOOL
LANE ROCHDALE
The Head of Planning presented submitted planning application
20/00041/FUL, an application for the erection of one detached dwelling with
associated landscaping and boundary treatments following the demolition of
existing buildings at Carr Wood Cottage (formerly 1 and 3 Higher Clough)
School Lane, Rochdale.
The Committee received representations from Mr. N. Morrell who addressed
Members on behalf of the objectors to the planning application.
The Committee received representations from Mr. A. Chorlton, who
addressed Members on behalf of the applicant, in support of the planning
application.
Resolved:
Planning permission be granted subject to the subject to the schedule of
conditions, detailed in the report.

7

LAND SOUTH EAST OF HALF ACRE HOUSE RESIDENTIAL CARE
HOME, ROCH VALLEY WAY, ROCHDALE
The Head of Planning presented submitted planning application
17/01418/OUT, an outline application for the erection of five detached
dwellings at land South East of Half Acre House Residential Care Home,
Roch Valley Way, Rochdale.
The Committee received representations from Mr. Sajad Hussain who
addressed Members on behalf of the objectors to the planning application.
The Committee received representations from Mr. M. Percy, the agent for the
applicant, who addressed Members in support of the application.
The Committee was addressed by Councillor Angela Smith, a Bamford Ward
Member, who explained that she had formally withdrawn her ‘call-up’ of this
planning application. Councillor Smith had called-up this application on the
basis of its potential impact on existing residential properties and the Roch
Valley Greenspace Corridor.

Page 5

Resolved:
That determination of this planning application be deferred to the next meeting
of the Planning and Licensing Committee.
8

APPROVAL OF REVISED LOCAL LIST FOR VALIDATION OF PLANNING
APPLICATIONS FOR PUBLIC CONSULTATION
The Head of Planning submitted a report explaining that the Local Planning
Authority (LPA) benefits from powers to require that planning applications are
accompanied by such information as it considers necessary; such information
must be set out in an adopted Local List. The Council’s current Local List is
out of date; work had been undertaken by the Planning Service to produce a
new Local List which should be reflective of current requirements, meeting the
relevant statutory tests and provide clear guidance to prospective applicants.
The report sought delegated authority is sought, to carry out a public
consultation exercise on the Local List, in accordance with best practice
guidance. It was intended that a final version of the Local List will be returned
to the Planning and Licensing Committee for adoption following a review of
the consultation responses received and, where appropriate, incorporation of
such feedback.
Resolved:
That the Planning and Licensing Committee delegate authority to, the Head of
Planning, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning, Development
and Housing, to carry out a public consultation exercise on the draft revised
Local List (‘Validation of Planning Applications – Local List’ July 2020).

9

PLANNING APPEALS
The Head of Planning submitted a report which detailed planning applications,
listed below, that had recently been determined by the Planning
Inspectorate.
a. 24 Apple Tree Way, Rochdale
b. 15 Walsingham Avenue, Middleton
c. 8 Canterbury Crescent, Middleton
d. 11 Ullswater Grove, Heywood
e. 2 Grange Avenue, Milnrow
Resolved:
That the report be noted.

Page 6

Agenda Item 6
Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

Report Author
Public/Private Document
Application: 17/01418/OUT
Applicant: Mr & Mrs R. Lewis

6 August 2020
Councillor Carol Wardle
Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development
& Housing
Michael Atkinson-Smith
Public

Township: Rochdale South

Ward: Bamford

Agent: Mr Malcolm Percy

Site Address: Land South East of Half Acre House Residential Care Home, Roch
Valley Way, Rochdale OL11 4DB
Proposal:

Outline application for erection of five detached dwellings
SITE LOCATION

Page 7

DELEGATION
1.1

The application is referred to the Planning and Licensing Committee as
the proposal would represent a departure from the Development Plan.

1.2

A previous call up request by Councillor Angela Smith on the basis of the
impacts on existing residential properties and the Roch Valley
Greenspace Corridor has been withdrawn.

1.3

The application was previously presented to the Planning and Licencing
Committee on 9th July, but the resolution was deferred on the basis of
inconclusive counting of the votes at the virtual meeting.
PROPOSAL SUMMARY

2.1

Outline planning permission is sought for the erection of five detached
dwellings on land to the south east of Half Acre House Nursing Home,
including a new access from Roch Valley Way. The proposal seeks to
obtain permission for the access and layout, with scale, design and
landscaping reserved matters.
RECOMMENDATION

3.1

It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves
to REFUSE planning permission.
REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

4.1

Whilst Core Strategy policy C3 seeks to improve the supply of larger and
higher value housing in the Borough, policy C1 states that the
development of greenfield sites within the urban area should have a
limited adverse impact on green infrastructure or amenity value in and
around the site and that green infrastructure is, wherever possible,
incorporated into the scheme.

4.2

Through the near linear and regimented form of the layout, the proposed
development would be at odds with its surroundings and fails to take
account of the specific site context. Furthermore, the application is
accompanied by insufficient information to demonstrate that adequate
mitigation for the loss of existing trees can be accommodated on or in the
vicinity of the site to compensate for the loss of trees, including those
which contribute to the street scene of Roch Valley Way adjacent to the
access point. This is to the detriment of the visual amenities and better
landscape qualities of the greenspace corridor.

4.3

The proposed development is therefore considered to be contrary to parts
(e) and (f) of saved Rochdale Unitary Development Plan policy G/8, Core
Strategy Policies DM1, P3, G6 and G7 and the National Planning Policy
Framework. Together these policies seek to protect and enhance the

Page 8

Borough’s green infrastructure from harmful development and ensure a
high standard of design.

Page 9

SITE
The application relates to a plot of land to the southeast of the Half Acre Nursing
Home off Roch Valley Way in Rochdale. The site is currently accessed through
the grounds of the nursing home, with part of the application site falling within the
curtilage/garden area of the nursing home and the other part a section of
undeveloped open greenspace covered in well-established grass/vegetation and
self-seeded trees. The site lies within the Defined Urban Area, with the majority
forming part of the Roch Valley Greenspace Corridor.
To the west of the application site is the garden area belonging to the nursing
home and beyond this is the highway of Roch Valley Way. The area which forms
part of the curtilage of the nursing home is made up a mixture of well-kept
gardens, concrete flags/patio area, self-seeded trees and the existing access
road.
To the south of the site is a steep embankment which drops down to the river
Roch and on the opposite side of the river is a water treatment plant. To the east
is an area of semi-mature woodland protected by Tree Preservation Order 090.
The land immediately to the south of the proposed development site is a disused
tip which has been remediated.
Two large residential dwellings (61 & 63 Half Acre Drive) stand to the north of the
site of the proposed dwellings, as does a vacant/gap site. Mature trees growing
along the rear boundary of the existing dwellings offer some screening, and two
protected trees are growing close to the boundary shared with the gap site. The
dwellings to the north are situated approximately 2m higher than the application
site.
PROPOSAL
The application seeks outline planning permission to erect five detached
dwelling houses on land to the south east of Half Acre Nursing Home. The
proposal seeks to obtain permission for the access and layout, with scale,
design and landscaping reserved matters.
Access
The residential development would be accessed via a newly created private
driveway off Roch Valley Way, with the adjacent existing access to the nursing
home closed off. The new access would serve both the existing dwellings and
the nursing home. The carriageway of the private driveway would measure 4.5m
wide where it serves both the dwellings and the nursing home, and would
include a footpath on either side, although after passing the separate turnoff for
the nursing home the width of the road serving the dwellings would gradually
reduce to 3m wide and include no footpath.
Approximately 26 trees not subject to a TPO would be removed to facilitate the
new access road.

Page 10

Additional parking and a service vehicle turning area would additionally be
provided within the grounds of Half Acre House nursing home

Layout
The proposed layout shows that the dwellings would be situated in a near linear
formation with the rear elevations facing north towards the residential dwellings
on Half Acre Drive and the adjacent gap site. The dwellings would all be Lshaped measuring 10.5m wide (at the widest point) and 10.5m in length (at the
longest point). Each property would have a rear garden measuring
approximately 23m in length and two parking spaces would be provided within
each residential curtilage. The proposed access road would run directly to front
of the dwellings and to the south, but separated by a modest planting strip.
Approximately 21 trees would be removed to accommodate the proposed
dwellings, although none of these are protected.
Amendments
Amendments to the proposed scheme during the course of the application
included a revision to the proposed access arrangements to result in a single
access point to reduce the potential for vehicular conflict on Roch Valley Way
and an extended application site area to permit a greater separation distance
between the proposed dwellings and the existing dwellings at nos. 61 and 63
Half Acre House. These changes resulted in the need for an updated tree
survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment and an updated Preliminary
Ecological Appraisal Survey was also submitted. A further amendment has
been received involving a slight concave stagger in the otherwise linear layout.
The applicant was advised to submit a full planning application including
sufficient land within the application site for replacement planting along with
detailed design of the properties and a landscaping scheme as this is integral to
the principle of releasing land in the greenspace corridor for development and
compensating for the loss of trees. However, this has not been forthcoming.
DEVELOPMENT PLAN
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 2006:
G/D/1
G/8
EM/7
EM/8

Defined Urban Area
Greenspace Corridors
Development and Flood Risk
Protection of Surface and Ground Water

Rochdale Core Strategy (CS) 2016:
C1
C3
P1

Delivering the right amount of housing in the right places
Delivering the right type of housing
Improving image

Page 11

P3
G6
G7
G8
G9
T2
DM1
SD1

Improving design of new development
Enhancing Green Infrastructure
Increasing the value of biodiversity and geodiversity
Managing water resources and flood risk
Reducing the impact of pollution, contamination and land instability
Improving accessibility
General development requirements
Delivering sustainable development

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD):
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development (2016)
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing (Updated 2017)
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – June 2019
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
RELEVANT HISTORY
13/00927/FUL

Outline application (means of access and layout) for the
erection of five detached dwelling houses. Refused
21.11.13 for the following reasons:

1) The proposed development, part of which is situated within the Roch
Valley Greenspace Corridor, would wholly alter the natural appearance of
this area, and thus harm its openness, better landscape quality and
character, thereby diminishing its amenity value and contribution towards
providing visual relief from the urban environment. The proposed
development would result in a visible and substantial incursion into the
valley and the corridor, setting a precedent for further encroachments into
the Greenspace Corridor and thus degrading the currently pleasant and
open countryside feel and character that this site provides. The proposed
residential development of this site is therefore considered to be contrary
to criterion (e) and (f) of Unitary Development Plan Policy G/8(A)
(Greenspace Corridor), as well as Policy G/G/1 (Greenspace) which
places emphasis on protecting sites which have an existing or potential
value from inappropriate development.
2) The submitted Phase 1 Habitat Survey highlights that the application site
has ‘medium’ potential for bats, badgers and reptiles and therefore prior to
determination further surveys would need to be carried out on the site in
order to fully understand and assess its ecological value. These surveys
have not been undertaken and therefore it can be not be reasonably
demonstrated that the proposed development would not harm the
ecological value and biodiversity of this area. In addition, it is considered

Page 12

that areas of rough uncultivated ground such as this, often promote more
diverse flora, which in turn supports a greater variety of smaller wildlife
including insects and birds. The proposed development would inevitably
result in the transformation of this uncultivated rough and overgrown land
which includes scrub and large and small trees, into private enclosed
residential curtilages and a new vehicle access road within the Roch
Valley, and this would be likely to reduce the naturally diverse habitat
here. The proposal, as submitted without the detailed surveys, fails to
comply with criterion (g) of Policy G/8(A) and Policy NE/3 (Biodiversity and
Development) of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.
3) The rear elevation of the proposed dwellings at plots 1 & 2 would be sited
17.4m from the rear elevation of the existing dwelling at 63 Half Acre
Drive. It is expected that the rear elevation of the proposed dwellings
would contain habitable windows and it is therefore considered that the
proposed development would unreasonably affect the privacy enjoyed by
the occupiers of the neighbouring property at 63 Half Acre Drive, which
also has principal windows in the rear elevation, through loss of privacy
and overlooking. The proposal therefore fails to comply with Policy H/3
(Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas) of the Council's
Unitary Development Plan, which seeks to ensure that new housing
developments are compatible with surrounding uses, both in terms of its
impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the
amenity of future residents. The proposal would also fail to satisfy the
relevant guidance contained within the Council's "Supplementary Planning
Guidance Note for Residential Development" which requires a separation
distance of 21m between principal elevations. In addition, all five dwellings
would have a rear garden length of 8.5m which is 2m below the 10.5m
required between the principal rear elevation and the site boundary, to
prevent overlooking into neighbouring gardens, also contained within the
Council's "Supplementary Planning Guidance Note for Residential
Development".
90/D25719

Relocation of tipped materials and landscaping. Granted
STC November 1990

87/D21019

Infilling of land with builders waste and dry industrial waste
for reclamation for horticultural use. Refused April 1988

78/D06166

Outline application for two dwelling houses. Granted STC
July 1978

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit – Summary: An updated ecological report
has been provided. This has found no significant changes to the ecological

Page 13

issues associated with this site. Issues relating to bats, badgers, nesting birds,
invasive species and loss of semi-natural grassland can be resolved via
condition and or informative.
Highways and Engineering – Summary: No objection to the revised proposal
on the basis of that the proposed access would combine with that of the existing
nursing home and that there would not be an unacceptable increase in traffic or
congestion. The revised layout includes a turning head and bin store which is
satisfactory to allow for refuse collection.
Public Protection (Environment) – Summary: Recommendation for standard
site investigation and risk assessment condition to be applied.
United Utilities: Summary - United Utilities will have no objection to the
proposed development provided that foul and surface water are drained on
separate systems and prior to the commencement of any development, a
surface water drainage scheme, based on the hierarchy of drainage options in
the National Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the
site conditions shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance
with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems
(March 2015) or any subsequent replacement national standards. In the event of
surface water draining to the public surface water sewer, the pass forward flow
rate to the public sewer must be restricted to 6.5 l/s.
TOWNSHIP PLANNING PANEL
The application has not been discussed at the Rochdale Township Planning
Panel due to postponement of these following COVID-19.
PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS
Letters of notification were sent to surrounding neighbours and a site notice
posted in the vicinity, with the exercise being repeated on receipt of the revised
proposal under the same application number. A total of 23 objections from 15
unique addresses were received in response the initial consultation and 21
objections from 20 unique addresses were received in response to the second
round of publicity.
The key points of objection and Case Officer’s responses summarised below:
-

The proposed site lies on land partly designated as Green Belt.
o Case Officer’s Response: The application site is not within the
Green Belt, however it a greenfield site and part of it is located
within the Roch Valley Greenspace Corridor which is afforded a
high degree of protection from development.



The site lies within a designated greenspace corridor which provides
welcome relief from the urban area and forms a green buffer comprising
wildlife habitat (bats, badgers, deer, etc.) / Any bats that live on site help

Page 14

to control the insect population / The proposed development site
encroaches further into the Roch Valley than the previous proposal.
o Case Officer’s Response: The impacts of the proposal on the
greenspace corridor and its ecology are addressed in the Analysis
section below.


The site is situated at generally higher than the river basin therefore the
proposal would result in unacceptable harm to the landscape value of the
corridor / The development does not make a positive contribution to the
local area nor does it take opportunities available for improving the
character and quality of the area.
o Case Officer’s Response: As the application is an outline
application for access and layout only, a full assessment of the
proposed development on the landscape character and visual
amenities of the area is not possible at this stage, although the
effect of encroachment into the Roch Valley Greenspace Corridor
is acknowledged and addressed in the Analysis section below.



The site appears to be situated on a disused tip. The submitted
documentation does not appear to adequately address the suitability of
the site to take residential development in terms of identifying potential
contaminants and ground stability issues.
o Case Officer’s Response: The Council’s Public Protection Service
has been consulted on the application and recommends that a
condition requiring the relevant site assessments and mitigation
measures be attached to any approval.



The proposed access road does not appear to provide adequate turning
facilities for refuse and emergency vehicles. The properties are also
situated too far from the adopted highway to expect residents to wheel
their own bins to the collection point. The proposal indicates an area for
bin storage however you would not normally expect this type of provision
for the standard of development proposed.
o Case Officer’s Response: The Council’s Highways Officer
considers the revised proposal to satisfactorily address these
issues.



The development would contribute to increased congestion and pollution
on Roch Valley Way.
o Case Officer’s Response: The Council’s Highways Officer has
raised no objections on these grounds given the scale and nature
of the development.



A number of trees will be removed to facilitate the proposal.
o Case Officer’s Response: The arboricultural impacts of the
proposal are addressed in the Analysis section below.



Two of the proposed dwellings would have an unreasonable effect on the
privacy of the occupants of No. 63 Half Acre Drive through overlooking.

Page 15

o Case Officer’s Response: The revised proposal has adequately
addressed this issue through accordance with the relevant
minimum separation distances as outlined in the SPD.


The proposed development is contrary to a number of the Council’s
Policies.
o Case Officer’s Response: An assessment of the proposal against
the relevant adopted policies is carried out in this report.

ANALYSIS
Principle of Development
1.

The proposed application site is located within the Defined Urban Area
However, the majority of the site lies within the Roch Valley Greenspace
Corridor as designated under the Proposals Map of the Unitary
Development Plan (UDP). Predominantly the site of the proposed
dwellings is land that has been landscaped above tipped materials as
approved under application 90/D25719 and has subsequently returned to
a semi natural state.

2.

Only a small part of the new access road includes land that presently is
covered by hardstanding, with the remainder of the land within the
curtilage of Half Acre House being mature garden. As such, as a whole,
the site would be considered to represent an area of previously
undeveloped, or greenfield, land as per the definition contained within
Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Contribution to Housing Supply
3.

Core Strategy Policy C1 requires the provision of at least 460 net
additional dwellings per year in the period 2012 to 2028 to assist in the
creation of successful, inclusive and mixed communities and meet the
housing needs. The policy acknowledges that this is a challenging target
and whilst it seeks to ensure that the focus is on maximising the use of
brownfield sites it states that the development of greenfield sites may be
necessary.

4.

In terms of housing supply, the Council’s latest published information is
the 2019 Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) which
shows the position as at 1st April 2019. The five year supply as at 1st April
2019 demonstrates that there is capacity to deliver 738 (gross) additional
dwellings per annum in the first five years. Therefore as at 1st April 2019 the
Council could demonstrate in excess of a five year supply of land available to
deliver new housing when assessed against the largest buffer (20%) set out in
the NPPF.

5.

Whilst the latest published information suggests that the Council can
demonstrate a five year supply based on the Core Strategy target; this

Page 16

does not preclude the promotion of sustainable development where this
can assist in delivering additional housing to meet local needs.
6.

Also relevant is Core Strategy policy C3 which states that the Council will
ensure that new development provides housing types that take account
of local needs and aspirations and ensure that the supply of larger and
higher value housing in the Borough is improved. Whilst full details of the
proposed house types has not been provided, the site context lends itself
to the provision of higher value homes which it reasonable to assume
they would be given the location.

7.

On this basis, the proposal would appear to satisfy the requirements of
Core Strategy policies C1 and C3 and the principle of development of a
greenfield site such as this for residential purposes need not be unacceptable; however, these factors must be balanced against all other
material considerations as outlined below, most notably the requirements
of saved UDP policy G/8, with parts A, B and D being relevant.

Impact of the Layout on the Greenspace Corridor
8.

Policy G/8 states that the Greenspace Corridors shown on the proposals
map will be protected, with developments only permitted where they will
enhance the recreational, ecological or landscape and amenity value of
the corridor. Criteria (e) and (f) of saved UDP policy G/8(A) state that
development will not be permitted within the Greenspace Corridor where
it would result in unacceptable harm to
(e) “the better landscape qualities and character of the corridor”; and
(f) “the amenity value of the corridor where it provides welcome visual
relief from urban development, including attractive views in and out of the
corridor”.

9.

The Greenspace Corridor to which the application relates forms an
important green buffer between the River Roch and the built environment
to the north. The existing developments including Half Acre House nursing
home and residential properties on Half Acre Drive to the north of the site
form a clear and definitive river valley edge/boundary where the urban
development ends and the open river valley landscape begins.

10.

The proposed development, including the tree removals and proposed
dwellings, would result in a visible and substantial incursion into the valley
and the corridor, thus degrading the currently pleasant and open
countryside feel and character that this site provides on the edge of the
urban area. It is noted that to increase the separation distances from the
dwellings at Nos. 61-63 Half Acre Drive, the current application site
encroaches further into the river valley than the development proposed
under previously refused application 13/00927/FUL.

Page 17

11.

Whilst there is no current public access to the site, there are views from
public footpaths on Roch Valley Way and in the longer term the Council is
seeking to deliver trails and improve the public access into the Roch
Valley Greenspace Corridor. Policy G6 of the adopted Core Strategy
specifically refers to the importance of the Roch Valley Corridor and the
objective of enhancing the valley as a key landscape feature in wider
Green Infrastructure networks both locally and as a part of Greater
Manchester’s river valleys. As such the proposed development would be
considered to undermine the future enhancement of the Roch Valley
Greenspace Corridor, negatively affect its landscape character and
qualities, adversely impact views into and from it and reduce its structural
value as a relief from the urban area.

12.

Whilst matters of detailed appearance, scale and landscaping are
reserved at this stage, with the application being in outline only including
access and layout, it is noted that a good arrangement of streets, spaces
and buildings is fundamental to achieving high quality residential
development. It is expected that the proposed dwellings be constructed to
a high standard of design with landscaping and boundary treatments that
respond positively to their context, but the very siting of built development
in this location in the linear and regimented form proposed would be
distinctly at odds with its surroundings given its very nature as an
undeveloped river valley.

13.

Whilst an amendment has been received which would see the proposed
layout include a very slight concave stagger, essentially, the form of
development proposed is inorganic in layout and would appear
transposed onto the site rather than attempting to integrate into the
natural landscape and take influence from the surrounding environment.

14.

Limited space for potential landscaping is included with the site edged
red, with the majority of replacement tree planting proposed in a linear
row to the front of the dwellings. Whilst this would serve to partially
screen the development from the wider river valley, it would also result in
the loss of views from the dwellings and from sunlight reaching the south
facing windows which further contributes to the overall poor layout.

15.

On this basis, it is considered that the regimented layout and lack of a
sufficient landscaping scheme which is integral to the principle of
development results in it not being possible to conclude that the
development would contribute positively to the attractiveness of the river
valley, improve the environment, create a place for people or support the
Council’s long term proposals for the enhancement of the Roch Valley
Greenspace Corridor as an attractive and accessible destination. The
proposed residential development of this site is therefore considered to
be contrary to criteria (e) and (f) of saved Rochdale Unitary Development
Plan policy G/8(A), Core Strategy Policies G6 and P3 and the
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 18

Trees and Street Scene
16.

The trees to the east of the site protected by Tree Preservation Order
(TPO) would be largely unaffected by the proposed development, with
suitable protection measures during construction being capable of being
conditioned.

17.

The proposed development would result in approximately 47 trees being
removed from the site, with the majority of these being for the proposed
access road. Many of the trees to be felled are self-seeded and of low
quality and not visible from Roch Valley Way. However, a group of four
trees would be felled to facilitate the new access from Roch Valley Way
which would somewhat affect the street scene. The harm is considered to
be limited, however, given that dense groups of mature trees would
remain on either side. There would be little scope for replacement to
offset the harm to visual amenity at this specific location due to the lack of
available space.

18.

The outline application does not include landscaping but the submitted
plans show that trees would be planted along the southern boundary of
the site to compensate for the loss of these trees. Notwithstanding this,
Core Strategy policy G6 requires that trees removed to facilitate
development are replaced at a 2:1 ratio and it has not been adequately
demonstrated where up to 94 replacement trees can be accommodated
within the application site area.

19.

The applicant has proposed that replacement planting could take place
outside of the defined site area on land in their ownership, although given
that the majority of the area suggested is a former landfill site that lacks
any form of mature vegetation it is considered that further investigation
would be required to demonstrate that the land is indeed suitable for tree
planting at all. As a result of the lack of land being demonstrably available
for the level of required replacement tree planting to facilitate acceptable
mitigation for tree loss through development, the application fails to
demonstrate compliance with Core Strategy policy G6 and the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Biodiversity and Ecology
20.

Core Strategy Policy G7 states that the Council will ensure that features
of biodiversity and geodiversity importance are given full and appropriate
recognition and protection, and no development should result in a net
loss of biodiversity or geodiversity interest. Saved UDP policy G/8(A)
indicates that developments should not unacceptably harm features of
nature interest (including designated and non-designated sites).

21.

In assessing the impacts of the proposed development, consultation was
carried out with the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) which
notes that the updated ecological report has found no significant changes
to the ecological issues associated with this site from the previous and

Page 19

earlier assessment submitted as part of the current application. GMEU
considers the potential for bat roosting on site to be low and notes that a
restriction on site clearance during the bird nesting season will mitigate
potential harm to nesting species.
22.

Removal of Himalayan balsam which has been identified on the site can
be controlled through condition. Probable evidence of badgers utilising
the site was identified in 2016 but no such evidence was found in 2018.
In the event of any approval, a suitable condition requiring appropriate
actions in respect of badgers would be required.

23.

Section 170 of the NPPF states that the planning system should
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment. The
development will result in the loss of approximately 0.25ha of seminatural habitat. The habitats present are however of only moderate
ecological value and are habitats that are widespread in the locality.
Mitigation could be achieved through soft landscaping if the use of native
trees and shrubs was maximised and bird and bat boxes provided. Such
matters could be dealt with through conditions in respect of landscaping.

24.

On the basis that matters relating to protected species and mitigation for
biodiversity loss can be adequately controlled through condition, the
proposal can be considered to comply with Core Strategy policy G7 and
the National Planning Policy Framework.

Residential Amenity
25.

The revised proposal would see an approximate 30m separation between
the rear elevations of the proposed dwellings and the rear of the dwellings
at nos. 61 and 63 Half Acre Drive which is in excess of the minimum of
21m required by the SPD. The distance to the rear garden boundaries of
the same properties would be 22m which is significantly in excess of the
minimum requirement of 10.5m. On this basis, no undue amenity impacts
for the occupants of the existing dwellings on Half Acre Drive are
considered to arise.

26.

It is acknowledged that nos. 61 and 63 Half Acre Drive presently enjoy an
open aspect to the rear across the application site and into the Roch
Valley but this cannot be afforded weight to warrant a refusal of planning
permission as it is an established principle in planning that there is no right
to a view.

27.

There are no other residential dwellings in the immediate vicinity that
would be unduly affected by the proposals and no incompatible land uses
that would see their operations affected by the proposed development.
The proposed development would not prejudice the potential future
development of the vacant site adjacent to No. 61 Half Acre Drive as the
site is of suitable scale to accommodate a development of a reasonable
size without impacting upon amenity of the occupiers of the easternmost
three of the proposed dwellings. Subject to a satisfactory design and

Page 20

fenestration arrangement, the proposed dwellings
acceptable living conditions for future occupants.

would

provide

28.

It is acknowledged that there is a distance of only 6.5m to the rear
boundary of 63 Half Acre Drive and the rear boundary of the westernmost
proposed dwelling and approximately 9m from 61 Half Acre Drive to the
adjacent proposed dwelling, although planning permission has previously
been granted for an extension to this dwelling which would reduce the
distance further. However, it is noted that due to the length of the
proposed gardens and retention of some degree of tree screening to the
rear, the proposed gardens could be easily laid out to ensure the main
usable areas are a suitable distance from the rear elevations of these
dwellings so as not to be unduly overlooked in close proximity.

29.

Therefore, on balance, it is considered that a satisfactory standard of
residential amenity could be achieved for both existing surrounding
occupiers and the occupiers of the proposed dwellings and the
application accords with the relevant parts of Core Strategy policy DM1,
the SPD and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Highways, Parking and Access
30.

The revised proposal would see the creation of a new vehicular access of
Roch Valley Way and the closure of an existing access to Half Acre
House nursing home. The Council’s Highways Officer considers that the
revised access proposal that combines access to the proposed dwellings
and the nursing home to form one access point to be suitable for the
development.

31.

Due to the scale of the proposed development, no concerns have been
raised in respect of traffic generation or increased congestion in this
location. It is considered that the onsite layout is acceptable and can
function safely and there is sufficient parking provision for each unit and
adequate space and manoeuvrability to facilitate refuse collection from
the development.

32.

On the basis that the highways and access impacts of the development
are therefore acceptable, the application accords with Core Strategy
policies DM1 and T2 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Drainage and Flood Risk
33.

The site falls within Flood Zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding
(less than 1 in 1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in
any year). The site is therefore suitable for residential development in
this respect, subject to appropriate wastewater and surface water
disposal to reduce the risks of flooding or aquatic pollution elsewhere.

34.

As this is an outline application dealing with access and layout only, full
details of the proposed drainage scheme have not been provided with the

Page 21

application and would need to be secured through condition. However, a
detailed consultation response from United Utilities sets out a number of
requirements in relation to foul and surface water separation and
management and sustainable urban drainage system to be installed.
35.

Therefore, subject to an acceptable drainage scheme being submitted to
and approved by the LPA as required by a suitable condition, the
requirements of Policy G8 of the Core Strategy and the requirements of
the National Planning Policy Framework would have been met.

Land Contamination and Stability
36.

The NPPF and Core Strategy Policy G9 state that the Council will ensure
that any risks arising from contaminated land or land instability are
identified, and that any appropriate actions to address these risks are
taken, prior to development taking place.

37.

The application site partially covers an area of land that has been
landscaped above tipped materials as approved under application
90/D25719. Consultation has been carried out with the Council’s Public
Protection Officer who suggests that prior to commencement of the
development an investigation and risk assessment must be completed to
assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or
not it originates on the site. Where the investigation and risk assessment
identify potential unacceptable risks, remedial action should be carried
out prior to development in accordance with details and within a
timescale to have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

38.

It is therefore concluded that, subject to an appropriate condition and
subsequent actions in respect of the above, the requirements of Policy
G9 of the Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework in
relation to land contamination would have been satisfied.

Provision of Recreational Open Space
39.

Policy G6 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy expects development
proposals affecting green infrastructure to, in the case of residential
development, provide or contribute financially towards recreational open
space, including maintenance, in accordance with the standards set out
in the Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing
Supplementary Planning Document.

40.

Nevertheless, in November 2014, the Government made a policy
announcement that tariff style planning obligations should not be applied
to developments of 10 dwellings or fewer or with a floorspace of less than
1000sqm. In this case, the proposal seeks outline permission for access
and layout only, with scale a reserved matter, and therefore final

Page 22

floorspace cannot be firmly ascertained (and therefore how much, if any,
contribution would be required) at this stage.
Conclusion
41.

Whilst Core Strategy policy C3 seeks to improve the supply of larger and
higher value housing in the Borough, policy C1 states that the
development of greenfield sites within the urban area will should have a
limited adverse impact on green infrastructure or amenity value in and
around the site and that green infrastructure is, wherever possible,
incorporated into the scheme.

42.

The proposed development would result in significant harm to the visual
amenities, landscape and structural values of the Roch Valley
Greenspace Corridor and, despite revisions to the scheme developed
throughout the application process, it is considered that the proposed
development remains unacceptable in both principle and matters of detail
and the application is accordingly recommended for refusal.

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves to
REFUSE planning permission for the following reason:
1. The proposed development is partly situated within the Roch Valley
Greenspace Corridor. The proposed development, through the linear and
regimented form, would be distinctly at odds with its surroundings and
fails to take account of the specific site context. Furthermore, the
application is accompanied by insufficient information to demonstrate that
adequate mitigation for the loss of existing trees can be accommodated
on or in the vicinity of the site to compensate for the loss of trees,
including those which contribute the street scene of Roch Valley Way
adjacent to the access point, to the detriment of the visual amenities and
better landscape qualities of the greenspace corridor. Accordingly, the
proposal is considered contrary to the requirements of Policies DM1, P3,
G6 and G7 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy, saved policy G/8 of
the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy
Framework.

Page 23

Agenda Item 7
Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

Report Author
Public/Private Document
Application:
20/00348/HOUS
Applicant: Khaser Ahmed

Township: Rochdale

23rd July 2020
Councillor Carol
Wardle, Development
& Housing
Jessica Fearon
Public
Ward: Bamford

Agent: Farhan Rama

Site Address: 36 Norford Way, Bamford, OL11 5QS
Proposal: Two storey and single storey front extensions together with single and
two storey rear extension including Juliet balconies to the rear elevation;
including alterations to fenestration and external part-rendering (part
retrospective)
SITE LOCATION

Page 24

DELEGATION
1.1

The application is referred to the Planning and Licensing Committee in
accordance with the scheme of delegation, as it was called up by
Councillor Patricia Sullivan.
PROPOSAL SUMMARY

2.1

Two storey and single storey front extensions together with single and
two storey rear extension including Juliet balconies to the rear elevation;
including alterations to fenestration and external part-rendering (part
retrospective).
RECOMMENDATION

3.1

That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the schedule of
recommended conditions.
REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

4.1

The proposed extension while visually prominent would comprise an
acceptable, contemporary addition to the application property, by virtue of
its design when compared to surrounding properties. The development
would not adversely impact upon the amenities of the occupiers of the
neighbouring properties. The proposed development would therefore
accord with Policies DM1 and P3 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 25

SITE
The application relates to a detached two storey dwelling located in the Bamford
area of Rochdale. The immediate street scene is a cul-de-sac made up of a
mixture of large detached two storey and single storey houses. The dwellings
along this section of the street each have a different appearance and share no
distinctive building line, with the properties having a staggered layout. Whilst
there is a mix of property types at this location, a number of houses at this
location have benefitted from first floor extensions to form two storey dwellings.
The application property has an L shaped layout with a distinctive catslide roof
design over an extending projection forwards of the front elevation. This feature
has an existing narrow front dormer window which is shown on plan as a
storage space above the existing garage.
The property has large oversized eaves which overhang the dwelling on all
elevations. There is an existing first floor balcony across the front elevation of
the property at first floor level. The existing building has been constructed from a
mixture of different materials including stone and white render.
At the time of the Case Officer’s site visit a partially constructed rear extension
was attached to the rear elevation of the property (approved under application
reference 19/00607/HOUS)
Numbers 34 and 38 Norford Way are located to the south and north of the
application site respectively. Owing to the slight incline at this location, number
34 is located in a slightly lower positon than the application property. Number 34
is a single storey bungalow property whilst the other neighbouring property,
number 38, is a two storey property that has recently been converted from a
single storey bungalow.
PROPOSAL
Planning permission is sought for a two storey front extension, front porch and
single and double storey rear extension including alterations to fenestration and
external part-rendering.
The front extension incorporates four elements. Two gable fronted two-story
projections, one being a partial dormer and both incorporating apex glazing, a
central two-storey flat roofed feature with full height glazing, and a single storey
flat roofed garage extension projecting forward of the northernmost two-storey
gable features.
The part two storey, part single storey rear extension is the same design and
scale previously approved under application 19/00607/HOUS, with the addition
of two Juliet balconies to the first floor. The full extension projections 4m, and
the single storey is situated on the left hand side, near the boundary with no. 34
Norford Way. It would be fitted with a lean to roof and would be approximately
4.8m in width.

Page 26

The two storey rear extension would span the remainder of the rear elevation
(9.4m) and would have a dual pitched roof. There would be two French doors
with Juliet balconies to serve two additional bedrooms on this first floor.
The ground floor would have three sets of bi-fold doors to the rear elevation.
The mix of white render, artificial stonework and grey/black window and door
features together with the mix of architectural styles gives the extension a
contemporary appearance.
DEVELOPMENT PLAN
Adopted Rochdale Core Strategy (RCS):
SD1 Delivering sustainable development
DM1 General Development Requirements
SO3 Improving design, image and quality of place
P2
Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
P3
Improving design of new development
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP):
G/D/1 Defined Urban Area
Supplementary Planning Documents:
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development (June 2016)
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – February 2019
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
RELEVANT HISTORY
78/D07454 – Balcony to front of dwellinghouse - Granted
17/01151/HOUS –
Two storey front extension including balcony and basement level recreational
room, two storey rear extension, together with alterations to existing dwelling
including the application of external timber cladding to ground floor front
elevation, changes to fenestration and replacement of balustrade to balcony. –
Withdrawn
18/91298/HOUS –
Two storey front and front porch, two and single storey rear extensions together
with alterations to existing dwelling including the application of external render to
all elevations and replacement of balustrade to balcony. Refused for the
following reasons:

Page 27

1. “The proposal, by virtue of the design, width and forward projection of the
two storey front extension, would result in a prominent, poorly designed
and incongruous addition that would harm the character and appearance
of the property and the streetscene. The proposal is therefore contrary to
policies DM1 and P3 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy, the
Council's adopted Supplementary Planning Document 'Guidelines &
Standards for Residential Development' and the National Planning Policy
Framework.”
2. “The proposal, by virtue of the scale, massing and extent of the forward
projection of the proposed two storey front extension, would result in an
overbearing form of development giving rise to loss of light and outlook to
the ground floor kitchen windows in the side elevation of 38 Norford Way
to the detriment of the amenity of the existing and future occupants. The
proposal is therefore contrary to policies DM1 and P3 of the adopted
Rochdale Core Strategy, the Council's adopted Supplementary Planning
Document 'Guidelines & Standards for Residential Development' and the
National Planning Policy Framework.”
19/00607/HOUS –
Two storey front extension, porch and single and double storey rear extension
including alterations to fenestration and external part-rendering – Approved
CONSULTATION RESPONSES
None.
TOWNSHIP PLANNING PANEL
None.
MEMBER REPRESENTATIONS
None.
PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS
Objection Reps

3

Support Reps

0

Neutral Reps

0

Letters of notification were sent by the LPA to surrounding neighbours. Three
representations have been received. The objections have been summarised
below and are addressed in the following report:






Increased surface water drainage, leading to severe flooding. Expectation
of flooding assessment to be carried out and published before approval of
application.
Loss of light to window on side elevation.
Overdevelopment.
Overlooking from increased size of rear windows and exacerbated by the
Juliet balconies.
Window on side elevation.

Page 28



Loss of light to neighbouring front elevation.

ANALYSIS
Design & Appearance
1. In the context of the street scene as a whole and the wide variety of
house styles, coupled with the significant setback from the highway, the
overall scale and massing of the proposed front extension is considered
to be acceptable. The design is considered to be attractive with
contemporary features which would not be detrimental to the visual
amenity of the street scene given the contemporary design of no.38
Norford Way. Number 38 has influenced the materials and window details
of this proposed development.
2. It is noted that the design of the front extension and garage projection is
an improvement upon the mass, scale and bulk of the approved scheme
(19/00607/HOUS). That scheme incorporated a lengthy front projection
that stepped downwards, thus retaining two-storeys of height under a
shallow pitched roof.
3. The proposed rear extension is large but the scale and massing is
acceptable given the rearward siting, and lack of impact on the street
scene. It is also largely the same as the approved scheme
(19/00607/HOUS). The proposed materials finish of this element is
acceptable given the existing elevational treatment with a rendered finish.
A significant amount of glazing would be inserted across the ground floor
rear elevation through the installation of three sets of bi-folding doors.
These are not uncommon in contemporary re-developments and are
satisfactory in respect of visual appearance.
4. In light of the above, the design of the proposal is considered acceptable
and accords with policies DM1 and P3 of the adopted Rochdale Core
Strategy, the relevant requirements of the Residential Development SPD
and the NPPF.
Amenity
5. The proposed two storey rear extension accords with the projection limits
contained within the SPD. The SPD allows for two storey rear extensions
to project to a point drawn from a 30 degree angle taken from a 2.4m
point from the rear of the neighbouring dwelling of 38 Norford Way, along
the common boundary. As such, it is considered that the rear extension is
not considered to harmfully affect neighbour amenity at this location. The
two storey element is also sited away from the boundary shared with no.
34.

Page 29

6. The single storey part of the rear extension is also within the projection
limits of the SPD which allows, for detached properties, a projection to a
point drawn from a 45 degree angle taken from a point 4m from the rear
of the neighbouring dwelling at 34 Norford Way along the common
boundary.
7. It is acknowledged that there is a modest differential in levels between
the rear of the application property and the rear garden of No. 34 Norford
Way. However, this is not considered to be of such a magnitude that it
would result in the rear extension being unduly overbearing.
8. Whilst the mass of the extension and its windows will not have an impact
on the amenities of the occupiers of no.34 in terms of the property itself, it
is noted that this neighbouring property has a sitting out area towards the
rear of the garden. There will be an additional modest impact in terms of
overlooking of the rear part of the neighbouring rear garden area of No.
34 through the siting of proposed bi-folding doors, but it is noted that the
same situation would result through the exercising of permitted
development rights. As such, it is not considered that a higher boundary
treatment is a necessary requirement to make the development
acceptable. It is also noted that the bi-fold doors are an element of the
previously approved scheme that is currently under construction.
9. The inclusion of a Juliet balcony in the rear elevation of the rear
extension would result in an increased perception of being overlooked in
the rear garden area of no.34 Norford Way. However, this would not be
significantly increased compared to an ordinary window, as there would
be no opportunity for sitting out externally, and furthermore the windows
would be sited at an oblique angle from the neighbour’s rear garden
patio, as they would be positioned within the two-storey element further
north. The rear garden space of no.38 is angled away from the rear
elevation of the applicant property and would not be overlooked by the
Juliet balconies.
10. The side facing bedroom window at first floor level overlooking the roof of
No. 34 Norford Way is an existing feature. The side facing bedroom
window facing No. 38 Norford Way is an existing feature.
11. The neighbouring property at number 38 Norford Way features side
windows facing towards the application property, including at ground floor
level, two windows which are the only windows serving the kitchen.
Whilst it is acknowledged that the additional height and projection of the
front extension will have some additional impact on these windows, it is
not considered that the impact would be unduly overbearing. Existing
dense vegetative screening which would be retained already limits the
outlook from these windows which was already constrained by virtue of
their positioning. Whilst there would be some degree of reduction in early
evening sunlight reaching these windows, this would not be to an extent
to warrant a refusal of planning permission.

Page 30

12. Whilst the concerns in respect of increased impacts in relation to
overlooking, loss of privacy and overbearing impact to No. 34 Norford
Way are noted, it is not considered that the proposed development would
unduly affect the living conditions of these or any other occupiers. The
application therefore accords with Core Strategy policy DM1, the SPD
and the NPPF.
13. In light of the above, the proposed extension would not unduly impact on
the amenity of the occupants of neighbouring properties and would
therefore accordance with policy DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core
Strategy, the relevant requirements of the Residential Development SPD
and the NPPF.
Highways and parking:
14. Sufficient off-street parking provision and manoeuvrability would remain
as a result of the proposed development.
Other matters
15. Concern has been raised in respect of the garden level of the application
property being raised and the impact of this on loss of privacy and
drainage / localised flooding. Temporary localised surface water flooding
of which evidence has been provided is likely to be addressed once the
development has been completed and the roof and hard surfaced areas
are properly connected to the drainage system. A condition requiring a
detailed landscaping scheme including details of the formation of any
banks, terraces or other earthworks, hard surfaced areas and materials
and planting plans is recommended.
RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves to:
a) GRANT planning permission subject to the below schedule of
conditions.
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
2. This permission related to the following plans:- This permission relates to the following plans:- Location plan
- Materials
- Existing plans, elevations and site plan – dwg.no:- PL01

Page 31

-

Proposed plan, elevations and site plan – dwg.no:- PL02

and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with
these drawings hereby approved.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory
standard of development in accordance with the policies contained within
the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy, the saved Rochdale Unitary
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.
3. The materials used in the construction of the exterior of the development
hereby permitted shall match the details submitted with this application in
colour, form, type, size and texture.
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with policies P3 and DM1 of the adopted
Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.
4. (a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, the
development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until full details of
both hard and soft landscaping works have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall
include the formation of any banks, terraces or other earthworks, hard
surfaced areas and materials, planting plans, specifications and
schedules (including planting size, species and numbers/densities),
existing plants / trees to be retained and a scheme for the timing /
phasing of implementation works.
(b) The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved scheme for timing / phasing of implementation or within the
next planting season following final occupation of the development
hereby permitted, whichever is the sooner.
(c) Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in accordance with this
condition which are removed, uprooted, destroyed, die or become
severely damaged or become seriously diseased within 5 years of
planting shall be replaced within the next planting season by trees or
shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to be
planted.
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having
regard to its location and the nature of the proposed development and in
accordance with policies P3 and DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 32

Agenda Item 8
Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

Report Author
Public/Private Document
Application: 20/00687/FUL

Township: Heywood

6th August 2020
Councillor Carol
Wardle
Cabinet Member for
Planning,
Development &
Housing
Samia Syeda
Public
Ward: North Heywood

Applicant: Rochdale Development
Agent: RINA
Agency
Site Address: Chamber House Farm, Rochdale Road East, Heywood
Proposal:

Solar farm with ancillary buildings, security fencing, CCTV, access
tracks and landscape planting
SITE LOCATION

Page 33

DELEGATION
1.1

The application falls to be determined by the Planning and Licensing
Committee as it comprises major development, represents a departure from
the development plan and is an application submitted by the Council.
PROPOSAL SUMMARY

2.1

Full planning permission is sought for the installation of 5.0MW solar farm
with ancillary buildings, security fencing, CCTV, access tracks and
landscaping
RECOMMENDATION

3.1

It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves it is
minded to GRANT permission subject to the recommended conditions.
REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

4.1

The proposed solar farm would comprise inappropriate development in the
green belt, which by definition is harmful to the Green Belt. The proposal
would also impact on the openness of the Green Belt and surrounding area
and would result in harm to the enjoyment of the nearby public rights of way.
As a result, very special circumstances must therefore be demonstrated that
would outweigh the harm caused. It is considered that the very special
circumstances in this case comprise the valuable renewable energy resource
that would make a significant contribution towards reducing carbon dioxide
emissions (1,850 tonnes saved a year) and to meeting both national and
local targets that seek to reduce carbon emissions and tackle climate
change. It is also noted that the proposal would generate a small but
valuable level of employment. Affording substantial weight to the harm to the
green belt by reason of inappropriateness and the harm that would arise to
its openness during the lifetime of the development, and affording
considerable weight to the impact on the public rights of way, it is considered
that the renewable energy generated by the development and the significant
annual reduction in carbon dioxide emissions that would arise, constitute
very special circumstances that would outweigh this harm, particularly
following the implementation and maturing of the mitigation planting
surrounding the site

4.2

Having regard to all material considerations, the proposal would not result in
significant harm to the amenity of neighbouring residents and surrounding
uses, the operation and safety of surrounding highway network, nor to any
listed buildings. Subject to conditions, the proposals would provide
satisfactory mitigation of the majority of the visual impacts, protected species
and nature conservation interests, and any disturbance to the surrounding
environment and operation of the surrounding highways network during the
construction phase.

Page 34

4.3

Therefore, considering all the merits of the proposed scheme, it is concluded
that the proposal would represent a sustainable form of development and it is
considered that the beneficial impacts would outweigh the adverse impacts
of the proposed scheme. The proposal therefore comprises sustainable
development and it is recommended that planning permission is granted
subject to conditions.

Page 35

SITE
The application site relates to circa 10.8Ha of land currently comprising four
agricultural fields one of which is used as pasture for grazing horses and for hay
cropping to the south of Chamber House Farm. The site runs lengthways from
northeast to the southwest, with the land sloping down from the northern end of the
site flattening out in the southern half of the site. The site also includes an area of
raised ground in the eastern part of the site which slopes upwards to the eastern
boundary of the site. Hedgerows run along the west, south and east boundaries of
the site, with a small cluster of trees within the site itself.
The site is located between the urban areas of Heywood and Rochdale to the
southeast side of Rochdale Road East (A58). It is within the Green Belt and borders
open fields to the south, east and west. The dwelling at Brooklyn is located within
maturely landscaped garden immediately to the north of the site. The sports pitches
and grounds of Mathew Moss High School are also located to the north. A mature
woodland, protected by a Tree Preservation Order, is located to the east of the site.
The residential areas of Castleton lie to the east of the site beyond the undulating
topography and woodland. Francil Farm is located on raised ground immediately to
the south of the site, with Mayfield Sports Centre and Carcraft car sales centre
located beyond open fields further to the southeast. The Castle Hawk Golf Club is
also located to the south beyond open fields. Harefield Hall is located on raised and
wooded ground to the west. There are a number of residential properties located
along Rochdale Road East to the north, northwest and west of the site. Ryecroft
Farm, comprising a dwelling and plant storage facility is located beyond an open field
to the northwest of the site,
Public footpaths including the Rochdale Way run immediately along the northeast,
east and southwest boundaries of the site. Chadwick Lane runs further to the south
of the site beyond open fields and gently raising land. The Grade II listed Church of
All Souls is located approximately 360m to the west of the site, and the grade II*
listed Crimble Mill is located within the Roch Valley 750m to the northwest of the site.
It is also noted that a mast and power line pass within close proximity to the west of
the application site.
PROPOSAL
The application seeks planning permission for the installation of a 5 Mega Watt (MW)
photovoltaic (PV) solar farm on land to the southeast of Chamber House Farm,
Rochdale. The proposed solar farm would generate 4,500MW hours of electricity
annually, which is sufficient to power 1,250 households (UK average) equivalent to
powering 1.4% of the Borough’s households. The project would be phased with the
first phase comprising 4MW and the second phase comprising 1MW. Permission is
sought for the facility for 30 years after which the equipment would be removed from
the site and land restored.
Each individual PV panel would measure 1.0m by 1.6m of glass construction and
would be fitted into a metal frame. The PV panels would be erected in rows running
east to west across the site with each row being circa 4.0m and 6.0m apart. The PV
panels would be tilted at 25 degrees from horizontal facing due south and would be

Page 36

set on a frame approximately 0.7m above ground extending up to 2.2m above
ground.
In addition, inverters which are required to convert the direct current electricity to
alternating current are mounted in small boxes on the panel supports underneath the
back edge of the last PV panels in a row. There would be three transformer and
switchgear substations set on concrete plinth measuring 3.0m by 2.0m.
A security fence comprising a 2.4 metre high galvanised fence would be sited around
the perimeter of the solar panels set in at least 5 metres from the existing field
boundaries and up to 40 metres from the eastern boundary of the site. A series of 11
pole mounted CCTV cameras up between 3.0m and 5.0 metres in height would be
interspersed along the security fencing.
The solar farm would be accessed along Carriageway Drive joining on to the
southern side of Rochdale Road East between Brooklyn and Chamber House
Lodge. The proposal would utilise the existing track with a new access point being
made in to the north corner of the site into the existing fields. The solar PV panels
and associated cabins and equipment would be delivered on 15.4 metre long
articulated vehicles which would access the site via the M62 entering on to the
A627M at junction 20, before routing on to Edinburgh Way (A664) and then via the
A58 (Manchester Road and Bolton Road).
A temporary laydown area approximately 80 metres long by 40 metres wide is
proposed at the northern end of the site adjacent to the site access to allow for site
construction.
BACKGROUND
Changes to government subsidy policies for renewable energy development in July
2015, resulted in a period of economic unviability in taking the project forward. The
permission granted in 2015 (15/00595/FUL) therefore was not commenced and the
Applicant has now submitted the scheme subject of this planning application.
Amendments to the scheme have been made since the 2015 permission which
include:





Relocation of the internal access roads to the eastern edge of the site
Replacement of 5x inverter cabins, located centrally within the site, with string
inverters and 3x transformer/switchgear cabins located on the eastern edge of
the site
Removal of the Distribution Network Operator cabin, the switchgear cabinet
and the control room from the northeast corner of the site
Addition of CCTV cameras around the site perimeter

The overall implication is that the new scheme would see an overall reduction in
buildings and infrastructure to support the solar farm, due to improved technological
advances, when compared to the 2015 permission.

Page 37

Since 2015 there has been an increased level of interest at macro and micro levels.
Nationally, the Government is still committed to reducing the risks associated with
climate change which has at its heart the Climate Change Act 2008. The Act
requires the reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by at least 34% by 2020 and
80% by 2050 (below the 1990 baseline) and setting and meeting five-yearly carbon
budgets for the UK during that period.
In this context RMBC has declared a climate emergency and is working towards
ensuring that the borough is carbon neutral by 2050 and aims to bring this agenda
forward to 2038 by following the framework of the 5-Year Environment Plan for
Greater Manchester 2019-2024 (EPGM)
One of six themes within the EPGM focuses on increasing local renewable electricity
generation and increasing the diversity and flexibility of our supply. This is pertinent
for Rochdale, which currently has only 13MW of renewable power.
DEVELOPMENT PLAN
NATIONAL GUIDANCE
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – February 2019
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Adopted Rochdale Core Strategy (CS):
SP2
SP3
SD1
DM1

The Spatial Strategy for the borough
The Spatial Strategy for the townships
Delivering sustainable development
General development requirements

SO1
E2
E5
E6

Delivering a more prosperous economy
increasing jobs and prosperity
Encouraging the visitor economy
Supporting and diversifying the rural economy

SO3
P1
P2
P3

Improving design, image and quality of place
Improving image
Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
Improving design of new development

SO4
G1
G2
G3
G4
G6
G7
G8
G9
G10

Promoting a greener environment
Tackling and adapting to climate change
Energy and new development
Renewable and low carbon energy developments
Protecting Green Belt
Enhancing green infrastructure
Increasing the value of biodiversity and geodiversity
Managing water resources and flood risk
Reducing the impact of pollution, contamination and land instability
Managing mineral resources

Page 38

SO5 Improving accessibility and delivering sustainable transport
T2
Improving accessibility
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP):
G/D/2
EM/7
EM/8
RE/6

Green Belt
Development and Flood Risk
Protection of Surface and Ground Water
Recreational rights of way

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD):
Climate Change Adaptation SPD (June 2012)
Biodiversity and Development SPD (updated 2017
National Energy Statements
Overarching National Policy Statement for Energy (EN-1)
National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy Infrastructure (EN-3)
Other National and Regional Energy Policy and Guidance
Kyoto Protocol (1997)
UK Climate Change Programme (2008)
EU Renewables Directive (2001)
Energy White Paper (2003)
Energy White Paper (2007)
UK Renewable Energy Strategy (2009)
UK Low Carbon Transition Plan (2009)
Northwest Sustainable Energy Strategy (2006)
Northwest Climate Change Action Plan (2010-2012)
5-Year Environment Plan for Greater Manchester 2019-2024
RELEVANT HISTORY
20/00436/AM

Section 73 application for amendments to planning permission
15/00595/FUL including: phasing of development; relocation of
internal access roads; amendments to inverter, transformer and
switchgear cabin arrangements; removal of DNO, switchgear
and control room structures; laying out of area for future battery
storage; and addition of CCTV cameras to perimeter –
Withdrawn April 2020

15/00595/FUL

Installation of 5.0MW solar farm with ancillary buildings, security
fencing, CCTV, access tracks and landscaping – Granted July
2015

CONSULTATION RESPONSES - SUMMARIES
Highways And Engineering – No objection. The proposal will be a low generator of
traffic once it has been established. Access to the site is adequate and internally the
layout poses no health and safety issues. Emergency access should not be required
but is suitable if it is needed.

Page 39

Env Health - Noise/Odours – No comments received to date
Env Health - Air Quality – No comments received to date
Greater Manchester Ecological Unit – The updated ecological report discovered
no new ecological constraints, the only potential ecological issue being nesting birds
potential which can be resolved by condition. There is no evidence of protected
species and no further information or measures are required. The proposal includes
the reseeding of the site associated with the solar panels with a wildflower mix and
replanting of boundary hedges along what are now fence lines along with the
provision of bird and bat boxes. Net biodiversity gain will be achieved and there is no
objection to the layout plan. I would recommend some minor amendments to the tree
and hedge planting plans as some of the species proposed are not locally native or
typical of the local landscape. I recommend that a revised planting plan is provided
via condition.
Conservation And Design – No objection. The site is located within proximity of All
Souls Church, a grade II listed building. Given the nature of the site, the topography
and a lack of direct historic association between the agricultural site and the listed
building the site is not considered to attribute to the significance of the designated
heritage asset. As such, its alteration will have a neutral impact on the setting of the
designated heritage asset. Similarly, given the separation in terms of distance and
topography the site is not appreciated within the same context as Crimble Mill and
subsequently this development will have a neutral impact upon this designated
heritage assets setting.
United Utilities – Confirm the proposals within the Flood Risk Assessment are
acceptable in principle and request a surface water condition and a foul water
condition.
Environment Agency – No comments received to date
Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service – No comments received
to date
Lead Local Flood Authority/Drainage – The Flood Risk Assessment provides
appropriate sustainable drainage suggestions, which include a long swale at the
lowest elevation of the site and a permeable road. A surface water drainage scheme
including surface water from the access road areas should be conditioned.
Rights Of Way Officer – No comments received to date
Landscaping Team – No comments received to date
Natural England (North West Planning) - No comments to make on the application
Highways England - Offer no objection

Page 40

GTR Manchester Bird Recording Group – No comments received to date
Historic England – No comments to make on the application
Open Space - Environmental Management – No comments received to date
GM Fire Service – No comments received to date
Strategic Planning – No comments received to date
Natural England – No comments to make on the application
GMP Design for Security – A number of security measures are recommended
including the fencing to be at least 2.4m high and former service yards to be secured
with a secondary enclosure with access controlled gates. Other security measures
include installation of an intruder alarm system, use of appropriate lighting and high
quality CCTV and planting of appropriate landscaping to ensure unimpeded
surveillance.
MEMBER REPRESENTATIONS
No representations have been received from Members.
PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS
Letters of notification were sent by the LPA to surrounding neighbours, various
notices displayed in the vicinity of the site and a notice placed in the local press.
Objection Reps

4

Support Reps

0

Neutral Reps

0

Comments made in respect of the application are summarised as follows:


Inappropriate development in green belt and countryside



Land is a breeding area of endangered Lapwing birds and frequented by roe
deer, herons, buzzards, kestrels and other birds of prey



The development will have a detrimental effect on the public right of way
which leads from Matthew Moss Land through to Chadwick Lane



The scheme will be visible in all directions and will impact on views from
residential properties
Officer Response: The consideration of these issues is considered in the
relevant Analysis section below. Loss of views from residential properties is
not a material consideration.

Page 41



Require details of the security fencing and the proposed CCTV security
Officer Response: A condition will be imposed requiring the full details



Request the financial details of the project including details of proposed
borrowings, agreements with energy providers, contracts registered or agreed
and any other financial detail relevant to the project
Officer Response: The financial and business case of the project is not a
material planning consideration



Until confirmation of the responsibility of the access lane from Rochdale Road
East to the site is established, we would like to submit an objection
Officer Response: It is noted that the proposed development would be
accessed via an unadopted road along Carriageway Drive. The application
has been supported by a Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) and
a Construction Method Statement (CMS). The CTMP includes the carrying
out of a survey of the condition of the local highway network before and after
construction and the carrying out of any remedial works following completion
of the development.

ANALYSIS
Principle of Development
1. There is support from the Government with regards to planning proposals for
renewable energy and this is highlighted by the NPPF. At paragraph 148, the
NPPF supports the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate,
including through encouraging the use of renewable resources and the
development of renewable energy.
2. Paragraph 154 of the NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities should not
require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low carbon
energy, and recognises that even small-scale project provide a valuable
contribution to cutting greenhouse emissions. If impacts are (or can be made)
acceptable, permission should be granted.
3. Similarly, Policies G1, G2 and G3 of the Core Strategy provide the Council’s
adopted planning policy in regards to renewable energy development and
establish that applications will be supported where the development would have
no unacceptable impact on the local environment.
Weight of renewable energy provision
4. With regard to this application, the proposed solar farm would have the potential
to generate a minimum of 5 MW peak of electricity and generate up to 4,500 MW
hours of electricity per year which is sufficient to power 1,250 households (UK
average) equivalent to powering 1.4% of the Borough’s households. Furthermore,
this would have the potential to reduce carbon dioxide emissions by 1,850 tonnes
a year that would otherwise be generated using fossil fuels.

Page 42

5. It is clear under paragraph 154 of the NPPF that applicants for energy
development are not required to demonstrate the overall need for renewable
energy. However, the energy created by the panels would contribute to the
Government targets on renewable energy and would assist in reducing carbon
emissions, thereby contributing to improving air quality, addressing climate
change, and delivering social and economic benefits. These factors must be
given significant weight in the overall consideration of the application.
6. The NPPG guidance establishes that ‘planning has an important role in the
delivery of new renewable and low carbon energy infrastructure in locations
where the local environmental impact is acceptable’. The NPPG is also clear on
the fact that the need for renewable energy does not automatically override
environmental protections and the planning concerns of local communities.
7. In light of the above, it is necessary to balance these considerations with the
need to provide renewable energy, while avoiding any unacceptable damage to
the environment and its key assets. If, on the balance of considerations, any
identified harm outweighs the benefits, having regard to all the material
considerations, the development will not be acceptable. This balance of
considerations is assessed below.
Impact on the Green Belt
8. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping
land permanently open; the essential characteristics of the Green Belt are their
openness and their permanence (paragraph 133 of the NPPF). The five
purposes of Green Belt noted in paragraph 134 of the NPPF are:






to check unrestricted sprawl;
prevent neighbouring towns merging;
assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
preserve the setting and special character of historic towns;
assist in urban regeneration.

9. Policy G/D/2 of the UDP and Policy G4 of the Core Strategy are broadly in
accordance with the NPPF and provide a presumption against certain forms of
development in the Green Belt except in very special circumstances. The
proposed solar farm and associated equipment are not one of the identified
exceptions listed in paragraphs 145 and 146 of the NPPF, the UDP or the Core
Strategy and the proposal therefore comprises inappropriate development in the
Green Belt. Paragraph 147 of the NPPF reaffirms this but states that very special
circumstances of renewable energy projects ‘may include the wider
environmental benefits associated with increased production of energy from
renewable sources’.
10. Paragraph 143 of the NPPF recognises that inappropriate development is, by
definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very
special circumstances. Paragraph 144 is clear that substantial weight should be
given to any harm to the Green Belt and ‘very special circumstances’ will not exist
unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and
any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.

Page 43

11. With regard to other impacts on the Green Belt, the addition of rows of solar
panels and the associated cabins would impact on the openness of the Green
Belt by siting new structures in existing open fields. However, due to the
separation needed between the panels it is noted that approximately 70% of the
site would remain open. In addition, that approximately 99.8% of the site would
remain grassland or planted with wild flowers below the solar PV panels. It is also
noted that as the PV panels would follow the contours of the ground the
undulating character of the landscape would still remain evident.
12. It is noted that the additional CCTV poles and 2.4 metre high fencing would be
sited around the boundaries of the application site. These would run along the
existing field boundaries characterised by fences and hedgerows and that these
would be screened by additional trees and hedgerows to be planted along the
field boundaries. Given the design of the wire mesh type of fencing, views would
be retained through and appropriate colour treatment would assist in blending
into the surrounding landscape. The CCTV poles would be more apparent given
they would be of up to 5m in height and whilst these would be of slender design
and would be limited in number and spread sparsely across the site along the
boundary lines created by the existing hedgerow and landscape features, they
would be visible and would have an impact on openness.
13. Therefore, whilst impacting on the openness it is considered that the character of
the pattern of fields, intervening hedgerows, and the undulating topography would
be retained. It is also noted that given the reversible nature of the proposed
scheme the proposal would not conflict with the intrinsic permanence of the
Green Belt and the five purposes of including land within the Green Belt.
14. Nevertheless, the proposed development by definition remains inappropriate
development within the Green Belt. In this respect, one of the main
considerations in respect of this application is whether there are any material
considerations sufficient to clearly outweigh the harm the development would
cause to the Green Belt, by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm,
thereby justifying the application on the basis of very special circumstances.
15. Of particular relevance to the above, the Court of Appeal judgement in Redhill
Aerodrome Ltd v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government
established that ‘any other harm’ in paragraph 144 of the NPPF (i.e. non-Green
Belt harm) can be taken into account in the weighing exercise of the planning
balance as to determining whether or not very special circumstances outweigh
the harm to the Green Belt by inappropriateness or any other harm.
16. This Court of Appeal judgment is an important reminder that under paragraph
144 of the NPPF, when considering any planning application concerning
proposed development in the Green Belt, local planning authorities should
continue to ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt.
‘Very special circumstances’ will only be demonstrated in circumstances where
the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any
other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.
17. The ‘very special circumstances’ associated with this application relate to:

Page 44



The renewable energy that would be generated by the proposed solar
farm at 4,500 MWh annually. The annual renewable energy produced by
the proposal would make a significant contribution towards meeting local
and regional renewable energy targets and also the national targets.



There are limited opportunities for providing energy of such scale through
renewable technologies and that the proposal would provide sufficient
electricity to power approximately 1,250 households.



The generation of energy through solar power would have the potential to
substantially offset the emission of carbon dioxide (CO 2) and potentially
displace approximately 1,850 tonnes of CO2 per year.

18. In this regard, the Government attaches significant importance to the need to
tackling climate change and the role that the exploitation of renewable energy
technologies can make in this. This is set out in Part 14 of the NPPF (Meeting the
challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change) and in particular
paragraph 154, that recognises even small scale projects provide a valuable
contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions. Within this paragraph, it is also
clear that local planning authorities should approve an application if its impacts
are, or can be made, acceptable.
19. Paragraph 147 of the NPPF makes it clear that ‘the wider environmental benefits
associated with the increased production of energy through renewable sources”
may constitute very special circumstances.
20. In summary, the significant contribution towards achieving a sustainable future for
the local area in light of the declaration of a climate emergency in the borough
and reducing the impacts of climate change are considered to be very special
circumstances, and the unique opportunities and potential gains would be
sufficient to outweigh the harm caused to the Green Belt by way of its
inappropriateness and impact on openness. As a result, it is considered that the
proposed development would accord with Policy G4 of the Core Strategy, Policy
G/D/2 of the UDP, and the policies and objectives of the NPPF, which seek to
deliver sustainable development. However, as noted above, it is necessary to
assess whether the proposal would result in non-green belt harm, which must be
taken into account in the weighing exercise of the planning balance in
determining whether or not very special circumstances outweigh the harm to the
Green Belt by inappropriateness and any other harm.
Landscape and Visual Impact
21. The site is located within the Greater Manchester Green Belt between the urban
areas of Heywood and Rochdale. The site falls within National Character Area
54: Manchester Pennine Fringe, which describes the transitional zone between
the moors of the Pennines and the lowlands to the south. The area to the north
and south of the application site is predominantly characterised by undulating
countryside comprising open fields with intervening hedgerows.
22. A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been submitted with the
application and assesses the landscape impacts and visual impacts of the
proposed development. It includes photomontages showing the development

Page 45

from various viewpoints in the surrounding area. The development would sit
within a relatively flat and low lying section of land between the built form of
Heywood and Castleton to the west and east respectively. Due to the
surrounding topography, tree cover, and built form of the nearby urban areas of
Heywood and Castleton, there would be few long distance views of the proposed
solar farm.
23. The LVIA concludes that the proposal would result in a slight to moderate
adverse effect on the surrounding landscape character and moderate impacts on
the landscape character of the site. The slight and moderate landscape impacts
would be limited to the lifetime of the development, which following
decommissioning of the solar farm after 30 years and restoration of land to its
former use there would be minor long-term benefits by way of the additional tree
and hedgerow planting, enhancing the local landscape.
24. The proposed solar farm including its associated cabins and CCTV poles would
be visible from public rights of way, bridleways and highways that run within the
immediate surrounding area to the north, south, east and west of the site. The
LVIA demonstrates that any significant visual impacts would be largely limited to
the site and its immediate surrounding area up to a distance of approximately 1.1
kilometres away, where beyond this the proposal would assimilate into the
surrounding landscape.
25. In order to mitigate the visual impacts in the immediate surrounding area, the
proposed scheme includes various mitigation planting including the infilling of
existing tree belts and hedgelines along the boundary edge. New hedgerow and
tree belts will be planted where little or none currently exist to provide screening
from receptors within close proximity to site, including dwellings to the north and
the transport routes including Carriageway Drive and Rochdale Road East.
26. Public rights of way (PROW), which include Rochdale Way and Heywood
footpath nos. 61, 63, 64, and 14 are in close proximity to the site and offer some
of the most prominent views of the solar farm and its equipment. However, it is
noted that the routes along the northeast, east and south eastern boundaries of
the site are set at a higher level than the rows of PV panels and equipment, and
there is either partial screening provided by hedgerows or in some parts complete
screening provided by existing mature woodland planting. Existing hedgerows will
be infilled and new hedgerows will be planted to screen the proposals from
PROWs.
27. Boundary fences will be planted with native climbers and all hedgerows will be
grown to a 3 metre winter height to provide adequate screening of the PV panels,
albeit the CCTV equipment would remain visible. Local native grassland species
will be planted under the panels to enhance the biodiversity of the landscape
character of the site in the longer term.
28. As a result of the mitigation proposals, the moderate impacts from surrounding
transport routes and public rights of way would be reduced to slight/moderate
effects. As such it is noted that despite mitigation there would still be an impact
on the open and rural character of the area and the proposed solar farm would be

Page 46

noticeable within existing views and public footpaths. However, given the
characteristics of the surrounding landscape and features within it and the
sensitivity of the site, in this case it is considered that following the
implementation of mitigation planting, the impact on the openness, character and
appearance of the landscape alone would not be significant and nor would this
outweigh the significant benefits associated with the generation of renewable
energy. The proposal is considered to therefore accord with Policies P2, P3, G6,
G7 and T2 of the Core Strategy.
Impact on Residential Amenity
29. The application has been accompanied by a LVIA which includes an assessment
of the visual impacts on surrounding residential properties. Many of the
residential properties assessed within the LVIA are at significant distances from
the scheme located at least more than 200m from the boundary edges (and
therefore at even greater distances to the PV panels). The implementation of the
proposed planting would mitigate the visual impacts of the proposed development
from the majority of residential properties, albeit some direct views would be
afforded from Francil Farm and Harefield Hall, which are located on raised land
above the site and therefore have views over the application site. It is therefore
not possible to screen the proposed development from view of these dwellings
and glimpsed views may be possible from certain views beyond the proposed
mitigation. Whilst the proposed solar panels would therefore be visible in some
views, including from these properties, given the intervening distance, the
respective land levels and existing and proposed intervening hedgerow and tree
planting, it is considered that the proposed PV panels and associated equipment
would not appear overly obtrusive from the surrounding dwellings to the extent
that they would unduly affect outlook. Notwithstanding this, the alteration of the
residents’ view would not be a material consideration as there is no impact
regarding overbearing or overshadowing. In this respect, the proposed PV panels
are themselves designed to absorb light and solar radiation in order to maximise
energy generation rather than reflect light and create glare. Indeed the PV panels
are designed with anti-reflective coating and their frames and coating are also
designed to be anti-reflective to minimise glint and glare.
30. With regards to the implications in respect of noise and disturbance, it is noted
that the operation of the solar farm would not generate any noticeable noise.
Consultations have taken place with the Council’s Environmental Health
department, who have yet to provide detailed comments. However, it is
worthwhile noting that the department had no objections to the previous
proposals for a solar farm in respect of noise issues. The solar farm is a passive
installation with minimal noise emission during its operation. Therefore noise
considerations is limited to the construction activity which will take approximately
three months. The CTMP and CMS which has been submitted with the
application has considered the level of activity during construction, and has
recommended a number of measures to ensure that the proposal would have no
undue impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupants.
31. Therefore, subject to the inclusion of an appropriately condition to secure the
detailed scheme of mitigation planting, and restricting construction hours, it is

Page 47

considered that the application would be acceptable in the above regard and
would accord with Policy G9 of the Core Strategy.
Trees and Hedgerows
32. The application site comprises open fields leftover to pasture and cropping with
sections of hedgerows along the boundaries and small clusters of trees within the
site. The site is not located within a Conservation Area and there are no
protected trees within the site itself. There are a group of mature trees located
immediately to the northeast of the site which are covered by Tree Preservation
Order no. 76 forming a woodland of Beech, Elm, Laburnum, Lime, Mountain Ash,
and Sycamore. Collectively these form a mature woodland and important
landscape feature within the surrounding area.
33. The application has been supported by an Arboricultural Report, including a
discussion of impacts and recommended mitigation measures. Whilst comments
are awaited from the Council’s Tree Officer, it is noted that the trees within the
site are not of significant arboricultural quality and value, and that the proposed
security fencing to be erected around the solar farm and internal 5 metre buffer to
the PV panels would act as protection to the majority of trees and woodland
around the site. The report recommends the provision of protective fencing to
protect trees at the site access, in addition to restrictions on construction works
beyond the protective fencing, and the carrying out of a schedule of arboricultural
monitoring during construction.
34. In order to ensure that trees and hedgerows adjacent to the site are protected, a
condition has been recommended requiring the implementation of the protection
measures set out in Section 5 and 6 of the Arboriculture Report prior to the
commencement of development.
35. The application proposes a significant amount of additional hedgerow, shrub and
tree planting around the perimeter of the site. These would have significant value
to nature conservation but would also help re-establish and support the existing
intervening hedgerows that run along field boundaries. Therefore, subject to
conditions it is considered that there would be no significant harm caused to any
important trees and hedgerows. The proposed development is therefore
considered to be in accordance with the requirements of Core Strategy G6.
Ecology and Nature Conservation
36. The application has been accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and
a Habitat Enhancement and Biodiversity Management Plan. It is noted that the
site does not form part of any statutorily designated nature conservation site.
There are no Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) or national nature
reserves within 5 km of the site, and the nearest local nature reserve Hopwood
Woods Nature Reserve is approximately 2.1 km to the south of the site. The
nearest Special Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) the Rochdale Canal,
which is also a Special Area of Conservation (SAC) is approximately 1 km from
the site. The proposals would therefore cause no impact on these nationally
important nature conservation sites. The nearest non-statutory designated local
site is a meadow at Heywood cemetery approximately 300 metres from the site.

Page 48

Given the low impact nature of the proposed development, it is not considered
that there would be any significant harm caused by the proposals to this site.
37. With regards to Protected Sites the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal concludes
that none will be directly impacted on by the proposed development. The
presence of Protected and Priority Species was assessed and the nature of the
existing habitats are considered to limit badgers, water voles, otters and crayfish,
and none of the floral species found are protected by the Wildlife and Countryside
Act or considered to be rare locally or nationally.
38. The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal did find evidence of bat foraging and
potential for bird nesting habitats within and around the site. It also considered
that the site was a suitable terrestrial habitat for Great Crested Newts albeit as
there are no ponds on site, it is unlikely to be found on site. Similarly, reptiles are
unlikely to be found on the site due to the limited quantities of suitable habitat
present. As such the report recommends the installation of five bat boxes and five
small bird boxes on or adjacent to the site. The installation of four hibernacula is
recommended for reptile and great crested newt habitat enhancement and it is
proposed to cut and maintain short vegetation on and around the site until the
start of works. As noted in the preceding section of this report, the application
also proposes the provision of enhanced hedgerow, tree and grassland meadow
planting. These proposals with the Habitat Enhancement and Biodiversity
Management Plan, would provide a net enhancement and improvement of local
biodiversity.
39. The Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) has been consulted on the
application and advises that the submitted information is satisfactory and
proportionate and that no further information is required prior to the determination
of the application. GMEU have raised no objections subject to conditions,
including the prevention of any vegetation clearance in the bird nesting season
without prior survey by an ecologist. Minor amendments to the tree and hedge
planting has been requested by the GMEU to substitute some of the species to
locally native species or those that are typical of the local landscape. As such, a
condition is recommended requiring a revised planting plan to reflect GMEU
comments.
40. Subject to conditions, it is considered that the proposed development would not
cause any significant harm to local and transient bird populations and nature
conservation interests and the proposals would provide for net enhancement of
biodiversity through the creation of a series of different habitats for local species
of flora and fauna. Having regard to the submitted ecological information and the
comments of GMEU, it is considered that the proposals would be in accordance
with the requirements of Core Strategy Policies G6 and G7 and the NPPF.
Highway Safety and Traffic Implications
41. The application has been supported by a CTMP and CMS. The proposed
development itself would not involve any works to the existing highway network
and would utilise the existing access along Carriageway Drive on to the A58,
Rochdale Road East. It is noted that Carriageway Drive is an unadopted road,
with uneven surface that serves residential properties and is subject to on-street
parking.

Page 49

42. Nevertheless, it is noted that the immediate highway network is subject to 30 mph
speed restrictions and the site access is relatively straight and at approximately
5.3m wide reducing to between 2.7m and 4m wide near the access into the field,
would accommodate the articulated vehicles and HGV traffic necessary to
construct the solar farm.
43. With regards to the construction of the solar farm, it is noted that the construction
programme is estimated to take 6 weeks (30 working days) during which a total
of 90 deliveries would be made, equating to 3 deliveries a day (or 6 in and out
movements). Of these it is envisaged that two deliveries per day (4 in and out
movements) would be by the largest vehicles being 15.4 metre long articulated
vehicles delivering the PV panels, framework and cabins. Further trips would be
made by construction workers in small vehicles to and from the site each day.
The Highways Authority have confirmed that given the low trip level and
temporary 6 week construction period, the construction would not cause any
unacceptable disruption to the highway network.
44. The site would be accessed by the existing highways infrastructure along
Rochdale Road East, joining Manchester Road eastbound, then southwards
along Edinburgh Way (A664) before using the A627(M) and accessing the M62
motorway at junction 20. It is noted that the vehicular infrastructure within this
network has been designed to accommodate HGV vehicles. This has been
developed through the CTMP and the CMS which includes other measures to be
put in place to ensure the safe delivery of the PV panels and associated
equipment, including temporary signage, ground matting to site access,
personnel to manage access onto Rochdale Road East and portable wheel
washing equipment. Accordingly a condition has been recommended requiring
the associated measures within the CTMP and the CMS to be implemented prior
to the commencement of development.
45. In terms of traffic generation during the operation of the solar farm, it is envisaged
that there would only be limited vehicular trips made by small van or 4x4 type
vehicles to the site each year (approximately 10 – 20 trips per year) to provide for
necessary maintenance and monitoring.
46. The local Highway Authority has raised no objections to the proposed
development. Having regard to the above, it is considered that subject to
conditions, the proposed development would make satisfactory arrangements for
vehicle access, manoeuvring and parking, and would facilitate safe access to and
from the site. Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would
provide safe and secure access and would not result in any strategic highways
implications, in accordance with the requirements of Core Strategy Policies T1,
T2 and G3.
Implications on Heritage Assets and Archaeological Interests
47. It is noted that there are no scheduled monuments, registered parks or gardens,
and registered battlefields within, immediately adjoining or within 3 km of the
application site. Given these distances and the surrounding built and natural
features that would screen the PV Panels from these heritage assets, it is not
considered that there would be any significant harm caused to the historic
importance of these heritage assets.

Page 50

48. With regards to the impact on the surrounding listed buildings, it is noted that the
nearest listed building is the Grade II Listed Church of All Souls, located
approximately 360 metres to the northwest. The listed building is principally
appreciated from Rochdale Road East and the immediate grounds and its
curtilage around it. Given the distance and intervening planting the proposed PV
panels, it is considered that the proposals would not detract from this
appreciation. The top part of the church tower would be visible from views along
the rights of way that run along the east and west of the site. The proposals
would therefore be visible within the same context as part of the listed church
tower. However, it is noted that views of the listed building would not be
obstructed, that a significant distance would be retained between the proposed
development and the church and its curtilage, and the existing open agricultural
fields between the site and listed building would be unaltered. Having regard to
the above, it is considered that the proposed development would not result in
harm to the wider setting of this grade II listed building given the context of the
site.
49. It is noted that the Grade II* listed Crimble Mill is located approximately 750m to
the northwest of the application site. The Mill complex is located within the valley
bottom adjacent to the River Roch and the application site does not form part of
this setting. It is also noted that the important and significant views and
appreciation of the Mill are from the Roch Valley, and that the proposed solar
farm would not be visible within these views and context. In addition, given the
topography of the intervening land between the proposed solar farm and this
nationally important heritage asset, the mature tree coverage, and the intervening
A58 carriageway and its associated paraphernalia between the proposals and
Crimble Mill, there are limited views of this from the application site, and therefore
it is not considered that the proposed development would have any significant
impact on the setting and importance of Crimble Mill.
50. With regards to the other heritage assets located within 2km of the proposals, it is
noted that the proposed PV panels, and associated equipment and access tracks
would not be visible from these or within the same context. Furthermore, it is
noted that the Conservation and Historic England have raised no objections to
the proposed development with respect to implications on heritage assets.
51. With regards to any potential implications on archaeology, it is noted that the
Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS) have advised
that the proposal would not impact on any known or suspected archaeological
interest and have accordingly not recommended any conditions in this regard.
Therefore, it is considered that the proposal is unlikely to result in any harm to
features of archaeological interest.
52. Therefore having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposal would
cause no harm to designated heritage assets and the proposal would therefore
accord with Policies P2 and G3 of the Core Strategy and the policies within the
NPPF.
Hydrology, Flood Risk and Drainage Implications:
53. The application has been supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). This
identified that the site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of

Page 51

flooding (less than 1 in 1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in
any year). The proposed use of the site is classified as ‘general industry’ and is
therefore considered to be less vulnerable as set out by Table 2 of the National
Planning Practice Guidance: Flood Risk and Coastal Change. Therefore, the site
is considered to be suitable in principle with regards to flood risk for the proposed
development.
54. It is noted that the site is located within an undulating landscape with land levels
sloping downwards into the site from the north and east position and that open
agricultural fields surround the site to the south, east and west. The FRA notes
that there is low risk of flooding from all sources and the recommendation within
the FRA is to set the proposed switchgear and transformer points 150mm above
surrounding ground levels.
55. With regards to surface water management, the proposals involve the siting of
rows of PV panels on framework piled into the ground below, which as a result of
being raised and angled would retain the greenfield and permeable qualities of
the ground. The access tracks are proposed to be of permeable material which
will allow rain and surface water to filter into the ground below. It is proposed to
replace areas of pasture land with additional areas of hardstanding to site the 3
no. transformer and switchgear cabins.
56. The applicant has taken a precautionary approach in relation to the additional
proposed hardstanding on the site and in accordance with the recommendations
of the submitted FRA the proposed scheme includes the provision of a swale
along the north western boundary of the site which would accommodate
approximately 115 m3 of surface water. This has been designed to accommodate
the potential additional surface water runoff caused by climate change.
57. Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed development
would not be at significant risk of flooding and subject to adequate on site
attenuation measures being put in place, it is considered that the proposed
development would cause no unacceptable risk of flooding elsewhere in
accordance with the requirements of Core Strategy Policy G8 and the NPPF.
Implications on Quality and Availability of Agricultural Land
58. The NPPG states that “where a proposal involves greenfield land, whether (i) the
proposed use of any agricultural land has been shown to be necessary and
poorer quality land has been used in preference to higher quality land; and (ii) the
proposal allows for continued agricultural use where applicable and/or
encourages biodiversity improvements around arrays.”
59. This has been supported by the Written Ministerial Statement (HCWS488) of
March 25th 2015 which states that any proposal for a solar farm involving the best
and most versatile agricultural land would need to be justified by the most
compelling evidence.
60. It is noted that the proposed solar farm would take up approximately 10.8Ha of
agricultural land, one of which is currently in use as pasture for grazing and for
hay cropping. The land has previously been classified by DEFRA as being Grade
3 (Good to moderate quality agricultural land) with a small area being within

Page 52

grade 4 (poor quality agricultural land). A survey has been undertaken by the
Applicants which has concluded that due to the soil texture and seasonal water
logging that the land would constitute grade 3B (moderate quality) and 4 (poor
quality). The land within the application site does not therefore comprise the best
and most versatile agricultural land (3a and above).
61. Whilst it is noted that part of the site would utilise agricultural land classed as of
moderate quality Grade 3B, it is noted that the land is to be sewn with agricultural
wildflower mix and from experiences drawn from other solar farm sites that the
site could still be used for the grazing of animals with the development in situ.
Given the above, the reversible nature of the proposed scheme and the
necessary works, it is not considered that the proposals would have a significant
detrimental impact on the agricultural quality of the land and the availability of the
agricultural land in the surrounding area in both the short and long-term.
62. Mineral, Geological and Land Condition Implications
63. It is noted that the application site is located within a mineral safeguarding area
for sand and gravel, for brick clay as identified within the Greater Manchester
Joint Minerals Plan. Whilst no comments have yet been received from the GM
Minerals and Waste Planning Unit, it is noted that in accordance with Policy 8 of
the Joint Minerals Plan the proposed development would be for a limited period
of time of 30 years and given the relatively minor intrusion and scale of works the
proposals would therefore not prevent the extraction of minerals in the future.
64. The site has historically been used for agriculture and has most recently been
used for grazing, hay cropping being largely leftover for pasture. The site is not
located within any designated geological conservation areas, and whilst the site
is located within a wider mining area there are no records of shafts or workings
on the site. It is not proposed to carry out any significant ground excavations or
land remodelling. Given the use of permeable materials for the access tracks and
the cabins, which would each be placed on new hardstanding bases, the
proposals would not require significant intrusion or excavation into the existing
ground.
65. It is therefore considered that there would be no adverse harm caused by way of
contamination or pollution and satisfactory ground conditions would be provide
for the proposed solar farm in accordance with Policies G9 and G10 of the Core
Strategy.
Other Material Considerations
66. It is noted that an electricity mast and power line runs within close proximity to the
west of the application site. Given the siting, scale and nature of the proposals, it
is not considered that there would be any significant disruption or harm caused to
nearby power infrastructure. This was also the position in respect of the previous
application.
67. The NPPF also sets out the other arms to sustainable development, it is noted
that the proposed development would be likely to require the employment of a
significant number of construction workers, along with a part-time maintenance
engineer and a small number of service staff.

Page 53

SUMMARY
68. The proposed development is a direct local response to a national, regional and
local agenda which seeks to focus on the provision of renewable energy to
reduce greenhouse gas emissions.
69. The proposal would result in harm to the Green Belt by reason of being
inappropriate development and its impact on openness. The scheme would also
have a limited impact on landscape character and appearance and would be
noticeable within existing views and public footpaths. This harm would be limited
given the distances between receptors, the landscape character, including
topography and features within it, and following the implementation of mitigation
planting.
70. Subject to conditions, the proposals would provide satisfactory mitigation of the
majority of the visual impacts, protected species and nature conservation
interests, and any disturbance to the surrounding environment and operation of
the surrounding highways network during the construction phase.
71. It is considered overall that the benefits in this case, comprising the valuable
renewable energy resource and the significant annual reduction in carbon dioxide
emissions that would arise, would clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt
and all other harm that has been identified. The proposal therefore comprises
sustainable development and it is recommended that planning permission is
granted subject to conditions.
RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves it is minded
to GRANT planning permission subject to the following conditions:
1

The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three
years beginning with the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2

This permission relates to the following approved plans:
-

00060-100 – Site Location Plan
00060-100 Z – 1:2500 Site Boundary
00060-106 – Figure 5 – Site Setting
00060-107 – Figure 13: Site Access
00060-108 – Figure 12: Road Access Map
60618346-SHT-20-MAN-R-011 – Site Layout Plan
60618346-SHT-20-MAN-R-016 – Foundations and Mounting systems
60618346-SHT-20-MAN-R-017 – Substation and Security
1192-01 – Planting Plan
CHF 090315 – Proposed Mitigation Planting

Page 54

The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the
approved drawings unless otherwise required by condition of this
permission.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard
of development in accordance with the policies contained within the Core
Strategy, the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National
Planning Policy Framework.
3

The development hereby approved shall be undertaken at all times in
complete accordance with the measures set out in the approved
Construction Traffic Management Plan, prepared by TPA dated May 2015
and the Construction Method Statement, prepared by Elmya dated July
2016. The condition survey and any subsequent remediation measures to
be undertaken shall include the extent of Carriageway Drive from the site
access to its junction with Rochdale Road East.
Reason: in the interest of highway safety and in order to ensure that
appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, nuisance and
disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the
construction of the development in accordance with the requirements of
Core Strategy Policies DM1, T2, G7, G8 and G9 and the National Planning
Policy Framework

4

Notwithstanding the submitted details and the requirements of condition 2
of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until full details
of the following have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
i.
ii.

iii.
iv.

The siting, design, materials and construction of all access roads.
The siting, size, design and construction of swales and or any other
surface water attenuation measures to be provided including crosssections.
The siting, height, design and appearance of all security fencing,
security gates, CCTV, poles and associated equipment.
The external materials, colour treatment of all cabins and any
ancillary equipment.

The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the
approved details prior to the first generation of electricity.
Reason: Further information of the exact siting and construction detail is
required in the interests of the character and openness of the Green Belt
in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policy
D/4, Core Strategy Policies P2, P3 and G4 and the National Planning
Policy Framework.

Page 55

5

No later than 6 months prior to the expiry of the planning permission or
within 6 months of the cessation of electricity generation by the solar PV
facility, whichever is the sooner, a detailed site restoration scheme for the
removal of the solar farm and associated development (including access
tracks, laydown area, all cabins, CCTV equipment, and fencing) hereby
permitted and for the restoration of the land to a condition suitable for
exclusive agricultural use shall be submitted to the local planning authority
for their approval in writing. The site restoration scheme shall include a
timetable for the completion of restoration works and shall be implemented
wholly in accordance with the agreed restoration details and timetable.
The operator of the solar farm shall notify the local planning authority in
writing no later than five working days following the cessation of electricity
generation.
Reason: The proposed solar development has a limited life expectancy
and will need to be decommissioned at the end of this period of use in the
interests of the amenity of the Green Belt. Following removal of the solar
farm and associated infrastructure, the land should be restored to its
previous agricultural use in the interests of the visual amenity, openness
and purposes of including land in the Green Belt in accordance with the
requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policy D/4, Core Strategy
Policy G4 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

6

No later than 6 months prior to the expiry of the planning permission or
within 6 months of the cessation of electricity generation by the solar PV
facility, whichever is the sooner, a detailed Decommissioning Statement
(in accordance with the general principles of the Construction Method
Statement for the site) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The Decommissioning Statement shall include a
timetable for the completion of decommissioning works and shall be
implemented wholly in accordance with the agreed decommissioning
details and timetable. The operator of the solar farm shall notify the local
planning authority in writing no later than five working days following the
cessation of electricity generation
Reason: To ensure appropriate measures are put in place to minimise
detrimental effects to the neighbouring amenities, the area in general and
the natural environment through the risks of pollution and dangers to
highway safety, during the decommissioning phase in accordance with
Policies DM1, P3, T2, G8 and G9 of the Core Strategy and the National
Planning Policy Framework

7

Within 3 months of the development hereby permitted being
decommissioned in accordance with Condition 5, a restoration scheme
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning

Page 56

Authority, and the approved scheme shall be implemented within 6 months
of the final generation of electricity. The Local Planning Authority must be
notified of the cessation of electricity generation in writing no later than five
working days after the event
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Unitary
Development Plan Policy D/4, Core Strategy Policy G4 and the relevant
advice of the National Planning Policy Framework.
8

The landscaping works shown on the approved plans [1192-01 – Planting
Plan] shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and in
accordance with any timing / phasing arrangements approved or within the
first planting season after the development is substantially completed,
whichever is the sooner. Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in
accordance with this condition which are removed, uprooted, destroyed,
die or become severely damaged or become seriously diseased within 5
years of planting shall be replaced within the next planting season by trees
or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to be
planted.
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard
to its location and the nature of the proposed development and in
accordance with Policies P2, P3, G6 and G7 of the Core Strategy and the
National Planning Policy Framework.

9

No development, including clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for
or during the course of development, shall take place during the bird
nesting season (March - July inclusive) unless an ecological survey has
first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird
nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species,
then no clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place until a methodology
for protecting nest sites during the course of the development has first
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Nest site protection shall thereafter be provided in accordance with the
duly approved methodology.
Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in
accordance with Core Strategy Policies G6 and G7 and the provisions of
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).
Reason for pre-commencement condition: Further investigation will be
necessary prior to commencement of any works on site during the bird
nesting season.

Page 57

10

The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with
the measures and timescales set out in the Habitat Enhancement
Biodiversity Management Plan (BMP) prepared by Greenlight
Environmental Consultancy, dated 25 March 2020.
Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape
features of ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and
biodiversity enhancements as part of the development in accordance with
the requirements of Core Strategy Policies G6 and G7 and the National
Planning Policy Framework.

11

The tree protection measures and method statement set out in sections 5
and 6 and the appendices of the Arboricultural Report prepared by
Greenlight Environmental Consultancy, dated 16 April 2020, shall be
implemented in full before development first takes place and shall
thereafter be retained throughout the construction of the solar farm.
Reason: To ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place
to safeguard the health of trees located within the site and in close
proximity to the proposed development in order to preserve their amenity
value in accordance with the requirements of Core Strategy Policies P3,
G6 and G7 of the Core strategy.
Reason for pre-commencement condition: Protection measures for
retained trees are required to be in place prior to commencement of any
works on site to ensure no damage is caused.

12

No external lighting shall be installed on the site unless a scheme for such
lighting has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved details and retained as such thereafter
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason. To prevent habitat disturbance of protected species in
accordance with Core Strategy Policies P3 and G7 and the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Notes for Applicant:
INFORMATIVES:
Bats: The applicant is reminded that under the Habitat Regulation it is an
offence to disturb, harm or kill bats. If a bat is found all work should cease
immediately and a suitably licensed bat worker employed to assess how best
to safeguard the bat(s). Natural England should also be informed.

Page 58

Great Crested Newts: The applicant is reminded that under the Habitat
Regulation it is an offence to disturb, harm or kill great crested newts. If a
great crested newt is found during the development all work should cease
immediately and a suitably licensed amphibian ecologist employed to assess
how best to safeguard the newt(s). Natural England should also be informed.
Reptiles: The applicant is reminded that reptiles are protected under
schedule 5 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). It is an
offence to take or kill reptiles. If a reptile is found on or near the site during the
development work should cease and a suitably experienced ecologist
employed to how best to safeguard the reptile(s).

Page 59

Agenda Item 9
Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

Report Author
Public/Private Document
Application:20/00653/HOUS
Applicant: Cllr Shah Wazir

Township: Rochdale

6th August 2020
Councillor Carol
Wardle
Cabinet Member for
Planning,
Development &
Housing
Ryan Killeen
Public
Ward: Healey

Agent: Mr Stewart Rothwell

Site Address: 7 Cronkeyshaw Avenue, Rochdale, OL12 6SQ
Proposal: First Floor Front Extension

SITE LOCATION

Page 60

DELEGATION
1.1

The application is referred to the Planning and Licensing Committee in
accordance with the scheme of delegation, as the applicant is a Member
of the Council dealing with planning matters.
PROPOSAL SUMMARY

2.1

First floor front extension
RECOMMENDATION

3.1

That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the schedule of
recommended conditions.
REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

4.1

The proposed extension would comprise a visually acceptable addition to
the application property, and street scene. The development would
demonstrate subservience by virtue of the ridge height being set down.

4.2

By virtue of its siting and scale, the development would not adversely
impact upon the amenities of the occupiers of the neighbouring
properties. The proposed development would therefore accord with
Policies DM1 and P3 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the
National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 61

SITE
This application relates to no.7 Cronkeyshaw Avenue, a two-storey, detached
family dwelling located on a cul-de-sac of similar properties approximately 1 mile
north of Rochdale Town Centre. The applicant property is of an ‘L’ shaped
layout with a significant forward projection that is 1½ storeys high, with the gable
end facing the highway.
The front elevation of the dwelling faces southeast towards the highway and is
adjacent to no.5 Cronkeyshaw Avenue to the west and no.9 Cronkeyshaw
Avenue to the east. The dwelling faces no.4 Cronkeyshaw Avenue to the
southeast with the rear elevation of the dwelling backing onto a wooded area.
PROPOSAL
The application proposes a first floor front extension, above an existing single
storey projection with a cuckoo dormer that is original to the dwelling. The
proposal would increase the ridge height of the forward projection by 0.75m,
from 6m to 6.75m, whilst increasing the height to eaves from 2.25m to 5m. The
roof form and pitch is to be maintained.
The proposal also includes a front porch that inversely chamfers the two limbs of
the dwelling. It is to be constructed with a gable fronted roof.
The proposals are to be constructed from materials matching the appearance of
the host dwelling.
Amendments
Amendments were requested to set in the front elevation facing Cronkeyshaw
Avenue to reduce the massing and consequential visual impact of the proposal.
These amendments were not forthcoming.
Further amendments were also requested to align the ground floor and first floor
west facing fenestration on the forward projection and insert a small window to
the north of the amended first floor window to provide an overall more coherent
appearance and reduce the visual impact of the proposal.
These amendments were received.
DEVELOPMENT PLAN
Adopted Rochdale Core Strategy (RCS):
SD1 Delivering sustainable development
DM1 General development requirements
SO3 Improving design, image and quality of place
P2
Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage

Page 62

P3

Improving design of new development

Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP):
G/D/1 Defined Urban Area
Supplementary Planning Documents:
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development (June 2016)
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – February 2019
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
RELEVANT HISTORY
N/A
CONSULTATION RESPONSES
N/A
TOWNSHIP PLANNING PANEL
None.
MEMBER REPRESENTATIONS
None.
PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS
Objection Reps

0

Support Reps

0

Neutral Reps

0

Letters of notification were sent by the LPA to surrounding neighbours. No
representations have been received.
ANALYSIS
Design & Appearance
1. The proposed extension would represent a subservient addition to the
host pair of dwellings in respect of the ridge height being set down
relative to the host dwelling. Nonetheless it is a substantial two-storey
forward projection to the property that has a dominant appearance in the
street scene. Under normal circumstances, if this were a wholly new

Page 63

addition to the property, such a development would be recommended for
refusal.
2. However, it is noted that the existing front projection (which is original to
the dwelling), is of a similar size to the proposal, but pays little regard to
the scale and design of the main part of the house. The proposal is
moderately larger but is better proportioned. As such, the impact on the
character and appearance of the host property and street scene would be
acceptable.
3. It is further noted that the proposal would not extend far beyond the front
elevation of the adjacent property to the east (no.9) and therefore would
maintain the building line of Cronkeyshaw Avenue. Additionally, whilst the
gable end of the proposal faces the highway, a front garden would
provide adequate spacing between the dwelling and highway and would
therefore not to be too visually dominant.
4. The amendments secured to align the west facing windows on the front
extension ensure that the proposal does not unduly impact views down
Cronkeyshaw Avenue from the junction with Heights Lane.
5. It is noted that front porches are a typically alien feature in the street
scene of Cronkeyshaw Avenue and the design of the proposed porch
would add confusion in the appearance of the dwelling. It is however
considered to be acceptable on balance as the porch would be read
against the dwelling when viewed from any angle, and therefore would
not be unduly prominent. It would also not appear a dominant feature in
the context of the dwelling due to the significant scale of the dwelling
itself. It is also a material consideration weighing in favour that the porch
would comply with requirements of the Permitted Development.
6. The proposed materials are brick, concrete tiles and UPVC to match
existing. The design values of the proposed extension therefore
correspond with that of the original dwelling.
7. In light of the above, the design of the proposal is considered to achieve
a satisfactory standard of design and would therefore accord with policies
DM1 and P3 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy, the relevant
requirements of the Residential Development SPD (paragraphs 5.1 and
5.11 to 5.13), and the NPPF.
Amenity
1. In assessing the proposed extension against the guidance contained
within the Council’s Guidelines & Standards for Residential Development
SPD, it is noted that the extension would comply with the guidance within
sections 4.1 of the SPD, which sets out minimum distance guidance for
new developments in order to prevent a significant loss of privacy and/or
light for occupiers of dwellings. The proposal would maintain 25-31m
separation between the south facing first floor windows in the front

Page 64

extension and those on the first floor of no.2 and no.4 Cronkeyshaw
Avenue.
2. The proposal only extends marginally beyond the front elevation of no.9
Cronkeyshaw Avenue, in addition to maintaining the footprint of the front
extension and increasing the ridge height by 0.75m. It is therefore not
considered that the proposal would unduly overshadow, or be
overbearing on, the front facing windows of the neighbouring dwelling.
3. The residential amenity of the property will also be preserved as
adequate light and outlook shall be supplied for all habitable rooms. The
outdoor amenity space will not be affected.
4. In light of the above, the proposed extension would not unduly impact on
the amenity of the occupants of neighbouring properties and would
therefore accord with policy DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy,
the relevant requirements of the Residential Development SPD and the
NPPF.
Highways
1. The resultant dwelling would have 5 bedrooms, with the proposal not
impacting on the ability to park vehicles off the highway. Space for up to 4
vehicles would remain which is considered appropriate for a dwelling of
this size.
2. The proposal would not unduly impact on the highway safety and would
therefore accord with policies DM1 and T2 of the adopted Rochdale Core
Strategy, the relevant requirements of the Residential Development SPD
and the NPPF.
RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves to:
a) GRANT planning permission subject to the below schedule of
conditions.
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
2. This permission related to the following plans:- Location Plan
- Sheet 1 – Existing Elevations
- Sheet 2 – Existing Floor Plans
- Sheet 3 – Rev.1 – Proposed Elevations (received 22/05/2020)
- Sheet 4 – Rev.1 – Proposed Floor Plans (received 22/05/2020)

Page 65

and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with
these drawings hereby approved.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory
standard of development in accordance with the policies contained within
the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy, the saved Rochdale Unitary
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.
3. The materials used in the construction of the exterior of the development
hereby permitted shall match those used in the construction of the
exterior of the existing building in colour, form, type, size and texture.
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with policies P3 and DM1 of the adopted
Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Article 35 Statement
The Local Planning Authority worked proactively with the applicant to identify
various solutions during the application process to ensure that the proposal
comprised sustainable development and would improve the economic, social
and environmental conditions of the area and would accord with the
development plan. These were incorporated into the scheme and/or have been
secured by planning condition.

Page 66

Agenda Item 10
Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

Report Author
Public/Private Document

6th August 2020
Councillor Carol Wardle
Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development
& Housing
Richard Elliott
Public

Application: N/A
Ward: Littleborough
Township: Pennines
(Enforcement Appeal Decision)
Lakeside
Appeal reference: APP/P4225/C/19/3231391
Site Address: Land on the south east side of Todmorden Road, Littleborough
OL15 9AF
Alleged Breach: Without planning permission ongoing engineering operations
comprising: the formation, layout out and construction of a means of access to a
classified road with the erection of associated fencing and gates, and engineering
operations comprising the re-profiling and raising of land facilitated by the importation
and deposit of soil, stone, brick, plainings and other building materials.
Appellant: Mr Graham Ramsden Agent: N/A
Planning Inspectorate Decision: Enforcement Appeal Dismissed 27 February 2020
 The Enforcement Notice (in addition to a Stop Notice) was issued on 12th June
2020.
 The Notice required the following:
(a) Cease the importation of soil, stone, brick, plainings and other building
materials on the Land;
(b) Cease the excavation, levelling and re-grading of the Land;
(c) Dig up and remove all imported soil, stone, brick, plainings and other building
materials from the Land;
(d) Remove the fencing and gates from the Land, and;
(e) Restore the Land to its former levels and seed to grass.
 The time period given for compliance was one day for requirements (a) and (b)
and two months for requirements (c) (d) and (e):
 The Notice was appealed on the Ground that the matters alleged in the notice do
not constitute a breach of planning control.
 The appeal was dismissed and the enforcement notice was upheld subject to a
variation to delete the words “and gates” from requirement (d).
 The Inspector concurred with the Council that the works and activities on the
Land constituted development requiring planning permission.
 Separately, the landowner had applied retrospectively to the Council for planning
permission for the development. That application has been refused by officers
(planning reference 19/01046/FUL). The landowner has contacted the LPA to
confirm that he will be appealing that decision also.
 Requirements (a) and (b) are being complied with, and should no appeal be

Page 67

submitted in respect of the planning refusal, or in the event that the appeal is
dismissed, Officers will seek to ensure that the Notice is complied with in full.

Page 68

Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

6 August 2020
Councillor Carol Wardle,
Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development &
Housing
Michael Atkinson-Smith
Public

Report Author
Public/Private Document
Application: 19/00707/FUL

Township: Middleton

Appeal Reference: APP/P4225/W/20/3245264

Ward: South Middleton

Decision level: Delegated

Site Address: Land Fronting 181-217 Kirkway, Middleton M24 1LW
Proposal: Replacement of existing 12.7m high monopole with 20m monopole,
accommodating 12 no. antenna in an open headframe and 2 no. transmission link
dishes, together with 8 no. equipment cabinets and ancillary development
Applicant: EE (UK) Ltd and H3G (UK) Ltd Agent: Entrust Professional Services
Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal Dismissed – 20th July 2020
 The Council refused to grant planning permission for the erection of a 20m
monopole on the basis that it would a significantly incongruous and dominant
feature of the street scene in a highly conspicuous location and would contribute
to increased street clutter through the retention of redundant equipment. Harm to
residential amenity through visual intrusion was also identified.
 The Inspector agreed that the mast would be significantly taller than any other
structure or street furniture in the immediate vicinity and noted that the mast
would be clearly visible from key vantage points including the length of Kirkway,
Mainway and the Kirkway local centre. As such, the Inspector agreed that the
mast would be an intrusive feature that would harmfully detract from the character
and appearance of the area.
 The Inspector also agreed that an unacceptably adverse effect on the outlook of
the residential dwellings above the Kirkway shops would occur, despite the
separation distance, as a result of the open nature of the area.
 Further noted by the Inspector was the lack of a sufficiently robust demonstration
of network coverage requirements and an alternative site selection process,
which had been referred to by the LPA in the Officer’s Report.
 Appeal decisions provided by the appellant were considered by the Inspector to
be materially different proposals and not comparable with the appeal scheme.
 On the basis the proposal would result in significant harm to visual and residential
amenity, and in the absence of a comprehensively presented case that clearly
demonstrated that were no alternatives, the Inspector dismissed the appeal.

Page 69

Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

Report Author
Public/Private Document

6 August 2020
Councillor Carol Wardle,
Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development &
Housing
Jessica Fearon
Public

Application:
Township: Middleton Ward: South Middleton
19/01365/HOUS
Appeal Reference: APP/P4225/D/20/3249118
Decision level: Delegated
Site Address: 24 Mount Road, Middleton, M24 1DZ
Proposal: Single storey rear extension including demolition of existing rear extension
together with installation of ground floor window to side elevation
Agent: Viktoria Klimentova at Guy Taylor
Applicant: Ian Scott
Associates
Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal Dismissed – 28th July 2020
 The council refused to grant planning permission for the single storey rear
extension on the basis that it would cause less than substantial harm to the
setting of this non-designated heritage asset and it would limit the amount of light
to the property itself.
 The inspector agreed that the replacement extension would dominate the rear
elevation of the building and the existing bay window. It was further agreed that
the increased height of the extension would fail to respect the proportions of the
building. The design of the windows of the proposed extension would add to the
extensions incongruity. As such the inspector agreed that the extension would
detract from the form, design and architectural interest of the building.
 The inspector agreed that the single storey extension would result in harm to the
significance of the non-designated heritage asset.
 In addition to the above, the inspector agreed that due to the size of the extension
in height, width and length it would appear overbearing on the bay window that
serves the dining room. This would cause the loss of light and the quality of living
space would be eroded.
 The previous permission was noted but as it was much smaller in width and
height and retained the original ground floor window it was considered to carry
limited weight in the consideration of this appeal.
 On the basis that the proposal would result in less than substantial harm to the
character and design of the original dwelling/non-designated heritage asset, and
the loss of amenity to the dwelling, the Inspector dismissed the appeal.

Page 70

Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

Report Author
Public/Private Document

6 August 2020
Councillor Carol Wardle,
Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development &
Housing
Mubeen Patel
Public

Application:
Township: Rochdale Ward: Castleton
19/01365/HOUS
Appeal Reference: APP/P4225/W/20/325075
Decision level: Delegated
Site Address: Ground Floor Shop, 814 Manchester Road, Castleton, OL11 3AW
Proposal: Prior approval application for change of use of part of ground floor from shop
to flat
Applicant: Mr Bernard Akin
Agent: N/a
Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal Dismissed – 24th July 2020
 The council refused to grant approval for the change of use of the ground floor
from a shop to a flat as under Schedule 2, Part 3, Class M of the GPDO the
building must have been used for Class A1 (shops) on 20th March 2013, or in the
case of a building which was not in use on that date, when it was last in use.
 Class M of the GPDO permits a change of use from Class A1 (shops) to a use
falling within Class C3 (dwellinghouse) as well as building operations reasonably
necessary to convert the building
 Although the site has been vacant for a number of years, it was in retail use
between 1990 and 1997. Subsequently, the unit was granted planning approvals
for a change of use to a restaurant in both 2000 and 2002 where works were
undertaken in order to facilitate this change of use, including internal alterations
and the installation of an extraction flue towards implementing a restaurant use.
 The appellant did provide black and white photographs of the appeal unit which
were of poor quality in order to show no signage for the restaurant use was
displayed, however the inspector stated that the signage associated with a
restaurant use could have been removed.
 In addition, the appellant also submitted a statement from a local resident which
stated that the appeal unit had never been used as a restaurant. However, the
inspector attached limited weight to it as this is not a sworn affidavit.
 The inspector concluded and agreed with the Council that the onus is on the
appellant to demonstrate that the building benefits from the permitted
development right and does not consider that sufficient evidence had been
provided to establish that the unit was last used for Class A1 (shops). Therefore
on the balance of probabilities, the permitted development rights under Class M
therefore do not apply to the appeal building.

Page 71

